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WHO WE ARE

The Competition Commission (Commission) is an independent statutory
body established under the Competition Ordinance (Ordinance)
(Cap. 619) which came into full effect on 14 December 2015. The
Commission is committed to promoting a competitive environment that
is conducive to free flow of trade, efficiency and innovation, bringing
increased choice and better quality and lower prices of goods and services
to consumers in Hong Kong.

WHAT WE DO

The objective of the Ordinance is to prohibit agreements, practices and
conduct that prevent, restrict or distort competition, and to prohibit
mergers that substantially lessen competition in Hong Kong. The scope
of application of the Merger Rule is currently limited to mergers involving
undertakings directly or indirectly holding carrier licences issued under the
Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106).

The Commission is tasked with the following functions under the
Ordinance:

To investigate conduct that may contravene the competition rules of
the Ordinance and enforce the provisions of the Ordinance;

To promote public understanding of the value of competition and
how the Ordinance promotes competition;

To promote the adoption by undertakings carrying on business in
Hong Kong of appropriate internal controls and risk management
systems and to ensure their compliance with the Ordinance;

To advise the Government on competition matters in Hong Kong and
outside Hong Kong;

To conduct market studies into matters affecting competition in
markets in Hong Kong; and

To promote research into and the development of skills in relation
to the legal, economic and policy aspects of competition law in
Hong Kong.
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The Commission’s Vision, Mission and Values embody the spirit in which we
carry out our duties to safeguard competition in Hong Kong by enforcing
the Ordinance.

VISION

To safeguard a level-playing field for consumers and businesses in
Hong Kong, enhancing economic vibrancy, stimulating innovation and

delivering consumer benefits.

MISSION

The Commission is committed to preventing anti-competitive agreements,
practices and conduct through nurturing a culture conducive to
competition, advocating rigorous compliance and engaging in effective
law enforcement.

VALUES

We will strive to uphold a level-playing field in Hong Kong ;
We will act independently within the confines of the law;

We will handle complaints, deal with applications and conduct

investigations in an impartial, objective and professional manner;

We will make ourselves accessible and accountable for our decisions
and actions; and

We will treat all people with respect and uphold ethical standards.

COMPETITION COMMISSION = 3 ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016
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It is with great pleasure that | present to you the fourth Annual Report
of the Competition Commission covering the period 1 April 2015 to
31 March 2016. This period straddles the pre-commencement stage of our
operation and the full implementation of the Competition Ordinance from
14 December 2015.

Competition law has finally come to Hong Kong and the business sector
and the general public are beginning to adjust to the new legal regime and
subscribe to its values. In promoting and safeguarding the new law, the
Commission is entrusted with three major functions namely, enforcement,
advocacy and policy advisory. Far from being distinct functions, these three
are very much intertwined, informing and supplementing each other to
form a logical whole.

For any new public organisation, it takes time for people to understand
the nature of its work. Misconceptions are often encountered in the
early days and the Commission has its fair share. For example, the
Commission has sometimes been mistaken as a price regulator or that the
competition rules, apart from prohibiting anti-competitive behaviour, can
also be extended to curing structural defects in markets which are not
conducive to competition. Just attributing such misconceptions to lack of
understanding of our functions that can be addressed by public education
misses a vital point as well as an opportunity for the Commission. These
misconceptions are reflective of the expectations of the public of what
the Commission could do. While it is true that structural defects in markets

2015/2016 % #f
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are beyond the ambit of the competition rules that focus on stamping out
cartel activities and abuse of significant market powers, the Commission
has a policy advisory function that allows it to proactively consider and
make recommendations to the Government and public bodies on how to
advance competition in various markets for the longer term benefit of the

community.

As the principal competition authority in our city, the Commission has a
duty to advise and assist the Government in articulating its competition
policy that will properly inform the public sector’s activities and
functions that affect the daily lives of everyone in Hong Kong. This can
be done through the Commission’s direct engagement with government
departments and public bodies on issues of public concern that relate to
competition, the making of submissions in response to public consultations
on government policies or laws, and the formulation of criteria that can
be incorporated into the policy making process as a form of “competition
audit” For the latter, overseas competition authorities have amassed a
lot of experience which will provide useful reference for Hong Kong.

With regard to the enforcement function, the Commission has received
over 1,600 complaints and enquiries at the time of writing, and our staff has
been very busy in assessing each carefully. Of course, not all complaints and
enquiries will result in further investigation. It depends on the evidence and
the enforcement priorities of the Commission which are currently focused
on the worst types of anti-competitive conduct that cause significant
harm to competition in Hong Kong such as cartel activities and abuse of
significant market power.

In terms of advocacy, we have had a very good year with the Commission
winning a string of local and international accolades for our educational
videos as well as for our public interest announcements featuring our
corporate mascot - the ubiquitous “cheating cat” - that has garnered a lot
of positive feedback. Going forward, we will continue to produce quality
educational videos and materials that will help the public understand more
about the Ordinance and our work.

Given the nature of our work, and being new and small, the Commission
must be firmly centred on knowledge, professionalism and learning.
Raising the level of professional expertise is essential to the Commission’s
development. This requires leveraging overseas experience and knowledge

COMPETITION COMMISSION = 5 ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016
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and adapting it to fit local conditions. The Commission has a highly
motivated and driven staff and providing appropriate training, exchanges
and learning opportunities to our staff is a top priority. As a Commission,
we are also committed to doing what we can to facilitate the build-up of
competition law expertise amongst the legal fraternity in Hong Kong.

A lot needs to be done but we have made a very good start.

Before | sign off, | would like to register my deep appreciation for the late
Dr. Stanley Wong, our first Chief Executive Officer who played a pivotal role
in seeing to the commencement of the full operation of the Commission.
I would also like to thank my fellow Commission members for their wise
counsel, and the hard work of the Executive and staff over the past year.

et

Anna WU Hung-yuk

Chairperson

8 September 2016
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COMPETITION COMMISSION

The year of 2015/16 will be remembered as an important year for both
the Competition Commission and Hong Kong as it is the year in which the
Competition Ordinance came into full effect on 14 December 2015. This is
a major milestone in the development of competition policy in Hong Kong
which brings us in line with international best practices in safeguarding

competition in markets.

It has taken Hong Kong nearly two decades to develop its first general
competition law. Being the latecomer means we have the benefit of
hindsight and we are well placed to learn from international best practice
while remaining alive to local commercial realities. The more than three
years of preparation since enactment of the Ordinance in 2012 gave us the
chance to develop a good body of external publications and information
material as well as to educate businesses and the public about competition

law and get ready for its full implementation.

In July 2015 the Commission published a finalised set of Guidelines which
is intended to provide general guidance on how the Commission will
interpret and apply relevant provisions of the Ordinance. In addition to the
Guidelines, we also published our Enforcement Policy, Leniency Policy and
other operational documents before 14 December 2015 which enabled us
to commence operations with a clearly thought out position on how we
would implement the Ordinance.

7 ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016
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Since the full commencement of the Ordinance, the Commission has been
focusing on identifying potential contraventions and gathering evidence,
laying the ground for our first case. It is not a secret that the Commission’s
resources are not infinite but we hope to overcome that by making the best
use of what we have. As stated in the Enforcement Policy, we will direct our
resources to matters that provide the greatest overall benefit to competition
and consumers in Hong Kong, and accord priority to cartel conduct, other
agreements causing significant harm to competition in Hong Kong, and
abuses of substantial market power involving exclusionary behaviour by
incumbents. Leniency has been proven to be an effective investigative tool
used by competition authorities around the world to combat cartels. Our
Leniency Policy aims to provide a strong and transparent incentive for a
cartel member to stop the cartel conduct and report it to the Commission.

It is often said, and nowhere more true than in competition law, that
prevention is better than cure. The Commission is committed to using a mix
of enforcement actions and advocacy to achieve the goals of the Ordinance.
While carrying out our law enforcement function diligently, we will not
slow down in our advocacy efforts. Engagement with and education of
businesses, trades and professional associations, business chambers and
the general public have been a major focus of the work of the Commission
and will continue going forward. With over two years of advocacy efforts,
the Commission is pleased to see increased public awareness of the new
law which is reflected by the tremendous growth in the number and depth
of the enquires and complaints received.

Since the full implementation of the Ordinance, the Commission has
received many enquiries and complaints. The community is aware that anti-
competitive practices will no longer be acceptable. Questions raised by the
general public are also becoming more sophisticated, indicating a higher
degree of understanding of the new law. We are encouraged that people
are reaching out to us with their concerns, because this allows us to better
identify the priority issues for the public at large, and the intelligence we
are getting can form the basis of investigations.

On the business front, we have seen concrete changes to the practices of a
number of industries and trade associations. In March 2016, we published
the encouraging results of our review of practices by trade associations and
noted many of them had changed long-standing codes and policies. Those
amendments to practice are just some of the changes we are aware of and
there are also changes that businesses have made privately. This is solid
proof that business practices can rise to the challenge of a new law and are
capable of changing showing a compliance culture is taking shape.

2015/2016 % #f
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As the Commission has fully assumed its role as a law enforcer, an increased
level of cooperation with other law enforcement agencies and sectoral
regulators such us the Communications Authority with which we share
concurrent jurisdiction in the telecommunications and broadcasting
sectors can be envisaged. Inter-agency cooperation with authorities
from different jurisdictions is another aspect that we are looking forward
to. The Commission is a member and active participant of established
networks, such as the International Competition Network (ICN) and we
have participated in various international and regional conferences and
forums to make our presence known in the global competition community.
We will continue to establish bilateral contacts with overseas counterparts,
including the relevant authorities in Mainland China, to ensure an effective
joined up approach to competition policy and law enforcement.

It was an exciting year for the Commission where we have settled into our
law enforcement role. This is also an exhilarating moment for Hong Kong
as a whole with many signs that a culture of fair competition is developing
and the community is becoming more aware of competition law. We have
just embarked on our journey with a fully-fledged competition regime in
Hong Kong and | am confident that we can drive this momentum forward
in the coming years ensuring that competition is vibrant and fair for the
benefits of consumers and businesses in Hong Kong.

In closing, | would like to express my gratitude for the wise counsel and
support of the Chairperson and Commission Members who have led us
through the successful full implementation of the Ordinance. We also
appreciate the continuing support of the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau.

b

Rose WEBB
Chief Executive Officer

8 September 2016
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ENSURING A LEVEL-PLAYING FIELD

In a free market economy, the market is the regulator. A competitive market
leads to better prices, products and choice for everyone, with greater
opportunities for businesses, in particular smaller ones, to enter and expand
in new markets.

Competition drives efficiency and innovation, and directs businesses to
meet consumer demands by providing the right product at the right price.

On 14 December 2015, the Competition Ordinance came into full effect.
The Ordinance seeks to protect the process of competition, not individual
competitors, and does so by making certain business practices which

undermine this process illegal.

The Commission's Guidelines were published on 27 July 2015.
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In the run up to full implementation of the law and with a view to helping
businesses comply with the new competition rules, the Commission
and the Communications Authority (CA) issued six Guidelines under the
Ordinance on 27 July 2015:

Guideline on the First Conduct Rule
Guideline on the Second Conduct Rule
Guideline on the Merger Rule
Guideline on Complaints

Guideline on Investigations

Guideline on Applications for a Decision under Sections 9 and 24
(Exclusions and Exemptions) and Section 15 Block Exemption Orders

The Guidelines provide guidance on how the Commission and the CA
intend to interpret and give effect to the provisions of the Ordinance.

2015/2016 % #f
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First Conduct Rule

The First Conduct Rule (FCR) prohibits undertakings from entering into,
engaging in or giving effect to agreements, concerted practices and
decisions of associations of undertakings that have the object or effect
of harming competition in Hong Kong. Agreeing with competitors to
cooperate rather than compete risks contravening the FCR.

Key points:

. The Commission’s Guideline on the First Conduct Rule provides
detailed guidance on a range of agreements and practices to enable
businesses to self-assess their behaviour and relationships so as to
avoid contravening the FCR.

. Serious anti-competitive conduct is an important defined term
in the Ordinance. Whether a contract is considered serious anti-
competitive conduct is not part of the determination of whether a
contravention of the FCR has occurred as such. Whether a conduct
is serious anti-competitive conduct need only be considered after
the Commission has formed a view that the conduct contravenes
the FCR. The consideration of whether a conduct is serious anti-
competitive conduct only becomes relevant at the stage where
the Commission is considering remedial action. If a conduct
contravening the FCR is not serious anti-competitive conduct, the
Commission must afford parties an opportunity to correct their
conduct by issuing a Warning Notice. The Ordinance defines serious
anti-competitive conduct to mean four broad types of conduct:

X Price fixing
X Market sharing
X Output restrictions
X Bid-rigging
. The FCR prohibits a range of other agreements which may be harmful

to competition but may not be serious anti-competitive conduct.
The Commission’s Guideline on the First Conduct Rule provides
detailed analysis of, for example, the activities of trade associations
and industry bodies, certain forms of joint ventures, franchising
agreements and selective distribution arrangements. These
agreements may be quite common practice in a market, may not
be anti-competitive and may often be pro-competitive. However in
certain contexts, these agreements may have the effect of preventing,
restricting or distorting competition.

COMPETITION COMMISSION 17 ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016
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The Ordinance has built in a “safe harbour” for small and medium
enterprises (SMEs) under the FCR. Agreements, concerted practices,
and decisions of associations of undertakings (other than those that
involve serious anti-competitive conduct) are excluded from the FCR
as “agreements of lesser significance” where the combined turnover
of the undertakings involved does not exceed $200 million for the

relevant turnover period.

Second Conduct Rule

Under the Second Conduct Rule (SCR), businesses with a substantial
degree of market power are prohibited from abusing that power to harm
competition. Certain conduct engaged in by businesses with substantial
market power can have the object or effect of excluding competitors from
the market, thereby limiting choices available to consumers. Conduct
engaged in by businesses whose turnover does not exceed HK$40 million
for the relevant turnover period are excluded from the SCR. Having turnover
over this threshold does not imply that an undertaking has a substantial
degree of market power in a market.

The Commission’s Guideline on SCR provides detailed analysis of business
practices that are commonly associated with the SCR. These include, for
example, below-cost pricing; tying and bundling; and refusals to deal. The
Guideline also sets out the Commission’s approach to defining the relevant
market (which is also relevant to the FCR and the Merger Rule).

The Merger Rule

Mergers that have or are likely to have the effect of substantially lessening
competition in Hong Kong are prohibited under the Ordinance. The scope
of application of the Merger Rule is currently limited to mergers relating to
undertakings directly or indirectly holding carrier licences issued under the
Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106). The Merger Rule does not apply
if the economic efficiencies from the merger outweigh the harm caused to
competition. Businesses may apply for a decision from the CA as to whether
their mergers are excluded from the Merger Rule.

The Commission’s Guideline on the Merger Rule provides an overview of
the key concepts used by the Commission in relation to the Merger Rule;
the different analytical tools used to assess mergers; and the different
applicable exemptions.
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ENFORCING THE ORDINANCE

The Commission will exercise its discretion to direct its resources to the
investigation and resolution of matters that provide the greatest overall
benefit for Hong Kong's businesses and consumers. The Commission’s
Guidelines on Complaints and Investigations provide guidance on how
the Commission will encourage and handle complaints and outline the
procedural steps and protections in the investigation of a matter. Details
on the Commission’s core principles when investigating cases and when
prioritising enforcement can be found in the Commission’s Enforcement
Policy which was published in November 2015.

Institutional Arrangements

The Ordinance adopts a judicial enforcement model to separate the powers
of investigation and enforcement (by the Commission) from those of
adjudication and the imposition of penalties (by the Competition Tribunal).
The Competition Tribunal (Tribunal) is a specialised tribunal established
under the Ordinance as a superior court of record and is responsible for
adjudicating cases of alleged contraventions of the competition rules.
The Tribunal is empowered to impose a broad range of remedies for
contraventions of a competition rule, including pecuniary penalties and
director disqualifications. The Tribunal also has jurisdiction to review
certain types of decisions made by the Commission and to hear “follow-on
claims” for damages by victims of anti-competitive behaviour.

Further information on the Tribunal is available on the Tribunal’s website at

www.comptribunal.hk.

The Ordinance provides that the CA has concurrent jurisdiction
with the Commission in respect of the investigation and bringing of
enforcement proceedings for competition cases in the broadcasting and
telecommunications sectors. To this effect, on 14 December 2015, the
Commission and the CA entered into a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) which provides, amongst other things, the manner in which the two
authorities will cooperate and pursue enforcement actions relating to the
concurrent jurisdiction.
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Core principles in conducting and resolving investigations

As detailed in the Commission’s Enforcement Policy, in relation to all
investigations, the Commission:

Will not comment on matters it may or may not be considering or
investigating, except in exceptional circumstances or to correct the
public record where details of the Commission’s investigation has
been made public by third parties;

Will conduct investigations in an efficient and timely manner. The
Commission notes, however, the length of investigations will differ
depending on the complexity of the matter, the availability of
evidence and the cooperation of the parties concerned;

Will consider the full range of potential remedies available to
the Commission, including genuine offers from parties under
investigation to immediately address the Commission’s concerns;

Will inform complainants in writing of the outcome of an
investigation; and

Will be transparent with the outcomes of investigations and make
them public in accordance with the Ordinance.

Remedies

To encourage compliance with the competition rules, the Ordinance
provides a range of remedies which the Commission can seek. The
Commission’s Guideline on Investigations provides guidance on the
possible outcomes of an investigation stage. After an investigation by
the Commission, it may be concluded that no further action is warranted.
Alternatively, the Commission may:

Issue Warning Notices, Infringement Notices or accept commitments
in response to conduct the Commission considers may contravene
the Ordinance.

Commence proceedings in the Tribunal seeking remedies including
a pecuniary penalty of up to 10% of an undertaking’s annual
Hong Kong turnover per contravention for a maximum period of
three years, orders disqualifying people from serving as director
of a company, damages or other orders to cease and remedy the

contravention at issue.

Refer the matter to a Government agency or conduct a market study.
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Leniency

One of the key tools used by competition authorities around the world to
deter and detect cartels is to have a policy that provides an immunity from
prosecution and/or penalty for the first business to inform the competition
authority of their involvement in a cartel.

On 19 November 2015, the Commission published its Leniency Policy for
Undertakings Engaged in Cartel Conduct (Policy). The Policy provides an
overview of the Commission’s approach to leniency applications as well
as a template leniency agreement which will form the basis of all leniency
agreements to be entered into between the Commission and successful
leniency applicants.

Pursuant to the Policy, in exchange for a cartel member’s cooperation,
the Commission will agree not to commence proceedings for a pecuniary
penalty against the first cartel member who reports cartel conduct to the
Commission and meets all the requirements for receiving leniency. The
Commission will extend this leniency to current officers and employees of
the cartel member and specifically named former officers or employees and
current and former agents of the cartel member who cooperate with the

Commission.

EXEMPTIONS AND EXCLUSIONS

The Ordinance provides for a number of exemptions and exclusions. In
summary, the main exclusions apply to:

. Agreements enhancing overall economic efficiency;

. Agreements or conduct undertaken in order to comply with a legal
requirement;

. Undertakings entrusted by the Government with a service of general
economic interest;

. Agreements or conduct resulting in a “merger”;

. For the purposes of the FCR, agreements between undertakings if the

combined turnover of the undertakings does not exceed $200 million
for the turnover period (as explained further above); or

. For the purposes of the SCR, conduct engaged in by an undertaking
with turnover not exceeding $40 million for the turnover period.
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Each of these exclusions applies automatically without the need for a prior
determination by the Commission. The Commission’s Guidelines on the FCR
and on the Applications for Decisions under Sections 9 and 24 (Exclusions
and Exemptions) and Section 15 Block Exemption Orders have provided
detailed guidance on the Commission’s interpretation of these exclusions.
Undertakings are therefore encouraged to self-assess their conduct against
the exclusions in Schedule 1 to the Ordinance to determine if the relevant
exclusion applies. However, for increased legal certainty, undertakings
can apply to the Commission for a decision as to whether an agreement
or conduct is exempt or excluded from the application of the competition

rules.

In addition, the Commission can issue block exemption orders to exempt
a category of agreements from the FCR, either on the application of an

undertaking or on the initiative of the Commission itself.
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Economics Advisory
Division

Corporate Services and

Operations Division Legal Services Division Public Affairs Division

* 2016 £ 3 H 7 H * Stanley Wong 18+ ( B4 ) B F1TEI#E * The late Dr. Stanley Wong stepped down as the Commission’s Chief Executive Officer and
H—M HEHBLLIFE- Ms. Rose Webb was appointed to the position, effective 7 March 2016.
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The Commission is committed to high standards of corporate governance in
conducting its duties in the best interest of the public and its stakeholders.
It strives to enhance the effectiveness of management of the organisation,
ensure its accountability to the public and transparency of its operations
through the disclosure of appropriate information on its operation and
governance. The Commission abides by the Ordinance which governs
many aspects of its operations and the supporting functional committees.
It also adopts appropriate principles and best practices including control
mechanisms, codes of conduct and corporate governance arrangements
that are applicable to public bodies.

COMMISSION MEMBERS (AS AT 31 MARCH 2016)

The Commission exercises the functions as provided in the Ordinance.
It oversees the work of the executive arm of the Commission and approves
all major decisions. The Commission currently has a Chairperson and
13 Members, who were appointed by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR.
Commission Members are drawn from different fields, including those who
have relevant expertise and experience in industry, commerce, economics,
law, SMEs, accounting, finance and consumer protection.
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CHAIRPERSON

The Hon Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP

Ms. Anna Wu is a member of the Executive Council
and a lawyer. She chairs the Academic Board of the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws of the University
of Hong Kong and is a member of the International
Advisory Board of the Hong Kong International
Arbitration Centre. She previously served as a member
of the Legislative Council and as the Chairperson of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority, the Equal
Opportunities Commission, the Consumer Council and
the Operations Review Committee of the Independent
Commission Against Corruption. Ms. Wu was also
a member of the Law Reform Commission and the
Hospital Authority. She was a Director of the Hong Kong
Mortgage Corporation Limited and a Non-executive
Director of the Securities and Futures Commission.

MEMBERS
Member, Chairperson of Staff Committee

The Hon Andrew LEUNG Kwan-yuen, GBS, JP

Mr. Andrew Leung is a merchant. He is a member of
the Legislative Council, the Honorary Chairman of the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries, and the Textile
Council of Hong Kong. He is a member of the Economic
Development Commission and the Deputy Chairman of
the Business Facilitation Advisory Committee.
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Member, Chairperson of Finance and
Administration Committee

Ms. Agnes CHAN Sui-kuen

Ms. Agnes Chan is the Managing Partner of Ernst &
Young for Hong Kong and Macau. She is a member of
the Environment and Conservation Fund Committee,
the Inland Revenue Department Users’ Committee, the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Appeal Board, and
the Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory
Committee of the Office of the Communications
Authority. Ms. Chan is also the Vice Chairman of the
General Committee and the Vice Chairman of the
Financial and Treasury Services Committee of the Hong
Kong General Chamber of Commerce, a member of the
Corporate Advisory Council of the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute, a member of the Accounting
Advisory Board of the Hong Kong University School
of Business, and a member of the Advisory Board of
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
Institute for Emerging Market Studies.

Member, Chairperson of
Enforcement Committee

Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen, BBS, JP

Mr. Kwok is an Honorary Senior Research Fellow at the
School of Economics & Finance of the University of
Hong Kong. He is a member of the Currency Board Sub-
Committee of the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee,
the Hong Kong Maritime and Port Board, the Aviation
Development and Third-runway System Advisory
Committee, the Steering Committee and Investment
Committee of the HKSAR Government Scholarship
Fund, and an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Sunevision Holdings Ltd. and DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Ltd.
Mr. Kwok was the Government Economist for the HKSAR
Government, and the Regional Chief Economist for East
Asia of Standard Chartered Bank.
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Mr. CHAN Kwok-wai, MH, JP

Mr. Chan is the Managing Director of Kin Man Garment
Factory Ltd. He is a member of the Advisory Committee
on Water Resources and Quality of Water Supplies of
Water Supplies Department, and a Design Admission
Panel of Design Incubation Programme of Hong Kong
Design Centre. Mr Chan is the Honorable President of the
Hong Kong General Chamber of Small & Medium Business
and the Deputy Chairman of the International Institute
of Management. He was a member of the Greater Pearl
River Delta Business Council, and the Textiles Advisory
Board of the Trade and Industry Department, the Vetting
Committee of the SME Development Fund of the Trade
and Industry Department, and the Standing Committee
on Company Law Reform.

Mr. Thomas CHENG Kin-hon, MH

Mr. Thomas Cheng is an associate professor at the Faculty
of Law of the University of Hong Kong. His research
focuses on competition law and policy issues. He is a
member of the Business Facilitation Advisory Committee,
the Energy Advisory Committee, and the Committee
on Slots Complaints of the Hong Kong government.
Mr. Cheng also serves as a member of the executive
board of the Academic Society for Competition Law
(ASCOLA), a member of the international advisory board
of the American Antitrust Institute and the Institute for
Consumer Antitrust Studies of the Loyola University
Chicago.
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Prof Leonard CHENG Kwok-hon, JP

Professor Leonard Cheng is an economist and President
of the Lingnan University. His research interests are in
applied game theory, market structure, technological
innovation and imitation, currency crisis, international
trade and investment etc. Professor Cheng is a Non-
Executive Director of the Securities and Futures
Commission (SFC), the Chairman of Executive Committee
of the Investor Education Centre of the SFC, a member
of the Economic Development Commission, and
Independent Commission on Remuneration for Members
of the Executive Council and the Legislature, and Officials
under the Political Appointment System of the HKSAR.

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP

Mr. Michael Hui is the Managing Director of Freedom
Industrial Corporation Ltd. He is the Vice-Secretary of the
Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association,
Chairman of the Import & Export Industry Training
Advisory Committee, Council member of the Hong
Kong Trade Development Council, a member of the
Programme Management Committee of the Dedicated
Fund on Branding, Upgrading and Domestic Sales (BUD
Fund) (Enterprises Support Programme) and Hong Kong
Export Credit Insurance Corporation Advisory Board. Mr.
Hui was the Chairman of the Hong Kong United Youth
Association, Central Policy Unit’s Part-time Member,
Council member of the Hong Kong Baptist University
and member of the Greater Pearl River Delta Business
Council, the West Kowloon Cultural District Authority
Consultation Panel, and the Harbour Front Enhancement
Committee.
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Ms. Miranda KWOK Pui-fong

Ms. Miranda Kwok is the Executive Director of China
Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation. She is the Vice
President of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, the
director of Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited
and a member of the Securities and Futures Appeals
Tribunal, the Public Affairs Forum, the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial
Institutions) Review Tribunal and the General Committee
of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries.

Dr. Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai

Dr. Anthony William Seeto is a telecommunications
engineer by profession. He is the Chairman of his
own investment company and the Director of IW
Management Services Ltd. Dr. Seeto is also a member
of the Communications Authority and a Fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He was an executive
committee member of the Communications Association
of Hong Kong and the Hong Kong IT Federation,
a member of the Telecommunications Users and
Consumers Advisory Committee of the Office of the
Communications Authority and the Chairman of the
Technology Committee of the Australian Chamber of
Commerce Hong Kong and Macau.
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Prof SUEN Wing-chuen

Professor Wing Suen graduated from the University of
Hong Kong, and went on to obtain his doctorate degree
from the University of Washington. After completing
post-doctoral research at the University of Chicago,
Professor Suen returned to his alma mater in 1989, and
currently holds the position of Chair of Economics at
the School of Economics and Finance. He has also held
research or teaching positions at Simon Fraser University,
Harvard University, and the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Professor Suen has published two books and
more than forty academic papers. He is an associate
editor of two journals-the Pacific Economic Review and
Economics E-Journal-and is programme leader of the
Human Resources Research Programme of the Hong
Kong Institute of Economics and Business Strategy. His
public service includes membership in the Minimum
Wage Commission and in the Standing Commission on
Civil Service Salaries and Conditions of Service.

Ms. Gilly WONG Fung-han

Ms. Gilly Wong is the Chief Executive of the Consumer
Council. She is a member of the Consumer Legal Action
Fund Management Committee, the Committee on
Reduction of Salt and Sugar in Food; Committee on
Supply Chain of Powdered Formula, Estate Agents
Authority, the Advisory Committee on Travel Agents and
the Travel Industry Compensation Fund Management
Board of the Tourism Commission, Deposit-taking
Companies Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority and the Costs Committee of the
Department of Justice. In 2015, Ms. Wong was elected
as Vice President of Consumers International (Cl),
a federation of consumer organisations worldwide with
over 240 members from 120 countries.
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Mr. Simon WONG Kit-lung, JP

Mr. Simon Wong is an engineer. He is an Executive
Director of a major catering group. Mr. Wong is a member
of the Minimum Wage Commission, the Mandatory
Provident Fund Industry Schemes Committee, and the
Commission on Poverty — Youth Education, Employment
& Training Task Force. He is also the Convenor of Food
Business and Related Services Task Force of Business
Facilitation Advisory Committee, the Chairman of Wong
Tai Sin District Fight Crime Committee and the President
of Institution of Dining Art.

Mr. WONG Kwai-huen, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Kwai-huen is a solicitor working as the principal
of an international law firm in Hong Kong. He is serving
on the boards of a number of public bodies as well as
professional bodies. They include the Chairmanship of
the Copyright Tribunal, the Deputy Chairmanship of the
Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance), a Member
of the Hospital Authority and the Chairmanship of the
Hong Kong Press Council. Mr. Wong is a former president
and a current council member of the Law Society of
Hong Kong. He was also the President of the Inter Pacific

Bar Association.
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FUNCTIONAL COMMITTEES

To facilitate the Commission’s work, two working committees were
established in May 2013, namely, the Staff Committee (SC) and the Finance
and Administration Committee (FAC). With the full commencement of
the Ordinance in December 2015, the Enforcement Committee (EC) was
established to perform such functions of the Commission as the Commission
delegates to it and to advise the Commission on enforcement matters.
These committees meet regularly and report their work to the Commission.

Enforcement Committee

The EC is chaired by a Member of the Commission, with six other Members
on the Committee. The Committee exercises a number of functions in
relation to the investigation of conduct that may contravene the conduct
rules in the Ordinance and applications for a Commission decision.

Functions

. Overseeing and assisting with establishing priorities for investigations
into possible contraventions of the conduct rules with a view to
deciding whether to:

i Enter into a leniency agreement with any person under section
80 of the Ordinance;

ii. Accept a commitment from any person to address competition
concerns about a possible contravention of the conduct rules
under section 60 of the Ordinance;

iii.  Otherwise settle an investigation in the Investigation Phase* by
seeking an undertaking, issuing a warning letter or by any other
informal means;

iv.  Discontinue or close an investigation in the Investigation Phase
for any reason on the basis of the Commission’s discretion
under the Ordinance;

V. Issue a warning notice under section 82 of the Ordinance in
respect of an alleged contravention of the First Conduct Rule;

* Where the Commission investigates an alleged contravention of a conduct rule, it will generally
do so in two phases: (i) an Initial Assessment Phase; and (ii) an Investigation Phase. For further
information on the Investigation Phase of a Commission investigation, see Part 5 of the
Commission's Guideline on Investigations.
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Considering and making decisions on applications for a decision
under section 9 and/or section 24 (Exclusions and Exemptions) of the
Ordinance; and

Advising the Commission on any enforcement related matters which
the Commission might refer to it.

While the Commission has delegated certain of its powers to the EC as
outlined above (“Delegated Powers”), only the Commission may exercise
the following non-delegable powers:

i The power to issue an infringement notice under section 67 of the
Ordinance;

ii.  The power to make an application to the Competition Tribunal under
section 92 of the Ordinance for the imposition of a pecuniary penalty;

iii. The power to make an application to the Competition Tribunal
under section 94 of the Ordinance for any other order which the
Competition Tribunal might make against a person; and/or

iv.  The power to issue a block exemption order under section 15 of the
Ordinance.

Should it so wish, the EC may refer any matter within the scope of the
Delegated Powers to the Commission for a decision.

Membership list

Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen, BBS, JP (Chairperson)
The Hon Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP

Mr. Thomas CHENG Kin-hon

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP

Dr. Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai

Ms. Gilly WONG Fung-han

Mr. Simon WONG Kit-lung, JP
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Staff Committee

The SCis chaired by a Member of the Commission, with four other Members
on the Committee. The Committee formulates principles and guidelines
governing human resources management matters, including recruiting
staff to the executive arm of the Commission and staff management.

Functions

To formulate principles and guidelines governing human resources
management matters including promotion and disciplinary matters;

To decide on remuneration package, terms and condition of
employment of staff for posts below the Chief Executive Officer level,
unless otherwise decided by the Commission;

To consider and approve recommendations of selection boards and other
matters related to the appointment, further employment or termination
of service in relation to staff below the level of Executive Director;

To advise, and to approve proposals each with an estimated value
not exceeding $5 million, on procurement matters related to staff

management or staff recruitment;
To consider policy issues pertaining to human resources management
and make recommendations to the Commission; and

To consider any other staffing matters and human resources
management issues referred to it by the Commission.

Membership list

The Hon Andrew LEUNG Kwan-yuen, GBS, JP (Chairperson)
Mr. Thomas CHENG Kin-hon

Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen, BBS, JP

Ms. Miranda KWOK Pui-fong

Dr. Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai
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Finance and Administration Committee

The FAC is chaired by a Member of the Commission, with three other
Members on the Committee. The Committee formulates principles and
guidelines governing financial and administrative matters, including

financial management control, accounting procedures and general

administration management.

Functions

. To formulate principles and guidelines governing administrative and

financial matters;

To advise the Commission on the investment objectives and strategies,
having regard to such classes of investment as the Financial Secretary
may specify in writing;

To review and make recommendations on the draft Annual Estimates
of Expenditure of the Commission;

To review the draft statements of accounts of the Commission;

To review the audit reports, audit findings and monitor the implementation
of actions arising from the audit reports;

To review the draft annual report on the activities of the Commission;
To make recommendations to the Commission in respect of the
appointment of an auditor;

To advise, and to approve proposals, on matters in relation to the
leasing or acquisition of the Commission’s office accommodation;

To advise, and to approve proposals each with an estimated value not
exceeding $5 million, on procurement matters, with the exception of
procurement matters under the purview of the Staff Committee;

To consider policy issues pertaining to financial management control,
accounting procedures and general administration of the Commission
and make recommendations to the Commission; and

To consider any other administrative and financial matters referred to
it by the Commission.

Membership List

Ms. Agnes CHAN Sui-kuen (Chairperson)
Mr. CHAN Kwok-wai, MH, JP

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP

Mr. Simon WONG Kit-lung, JP
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COMMISSION AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

In the year under review, a total of 10 Commission meetings were
convened. Each of the three Commission committees, namely EC, SC and
FAC, convened 3 meetings respectively. Attendance records of Members are
shown as follows:

Attendance Record of Competition Commission Meetings
April 2015 to March 2016 (10 meetings)

B HERE
Member No. of times present
AL EEEE Hon Anna WU Hung-yuk 10
PEEZE Hon Andrew LEUNG Kwan-yuen 8

FRImaE 2+ Ms Agnes CHAN Sui-kuen 9

BeR B8 L 55 Mr CHAN Kwok-wai 10

EREERR A Mr Thomas CHENG Kin-hon 7
ERERERIR Prof Leonard CHENG Kwok-hon 9
FrEGELE Mr Michael HUI Wah-kit 7

SREZE A Mr KWOK Kwok-chuen 10

SRIAE Z L Ms Miranda KWOK Pui-fong 7
AiEREE LT Dr Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai 10
KRR Prof SUEN Wing-chuen 8
=HEHzt Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han 8
HRRESE Mr Simon WONG Kit-lung 9
FrBEAE Mr WONG Kwai-huen 9

PEEEEERLERE Attendance Record of Enforcement Committee Meetings
20155F12A*E20165F38 (H3XE#E) December 2015* to March 2016 (3 meetings)

4] HERE
Member No. of times present
SRR & LA Mr KWOK Kwok-chuen 3

AL EEE Hon Anna WU Hung-yuk 3
EREeRsE Mr Thomas CHENG Kin-hon 2
STEMGEE Mr Michael HUI Wah-kit 3
RITEIRIEIE L Dr Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai 3
=Rzt Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han 2
=IERESAE Mr Simon WONG Kit-lung 3

¥ HEEEEH 2015 F 12 BAET ©

*

The Enforcement Committee was established in December 2015.
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Attendance Record of Staff Committee Meetings

2015548 F20165F38 (H3REH) April 2015 to March 2016 (3 meetings)

(54 -] HERE
Member No. of times present
REEZE Hon Andrew LEUNG Kwan-yuen 3

BREEE ST Mr Thomas CHENG Kin-hon 2

SREE & 5E 4 Mr KWOK Kwok-chuen 3

I B =L Ms Miranda KWOK Pui-fong 2
RERIEE T Dr Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai 3

HERITHREER snﬁﬂjlﬁi‘ﬂﬁ

Attendance Record of Finance and Administration
Committee Meetings

2015548 F20165F38 (H3XRBER) April 2015 to March 2016 (3 meetings)

e HERH

Member No. of times present

FRImE 2+ Ms Agnes CHAN Sui-kuen 3

ReR B /= S Mr CHAN Kwok-wai 3

FrEMRYE Mr Michael HUI Wah-kit 2

E=EREELRSE Mr Simon WONG Kit-lung 3
HARREBZERE TRANSPARENCY TO THE COMMUNITY

BEERA REEHERIFEESAMN  The Commission considers transparency a foundation of good corporate

EXER MERKBEEEFER TR —H
KERAMMEE - MEEHNEARREFGD
ERFLENER BEREEREE  OEEE
BME - ER - R IE'Q’L\\%: mEEN
R UL (www.compcomm.hk) 5 » ERFIR M

REEH -

BEENRGRERM—EEZHUTEES  AE
RiBHNHABERME-FEN  AREIE (&
) ~ #55] « BREK R BEFHRMAOSHEF
R~ T - RS B8R BM 0 LRBE

FAEREMEHENEERERNE - ARAL
A EREBERET  LESHESRBREIA

BREOSHEN - RS (R ZEER
FREE R 2015 5F 12 BHEH ZHEL - EM
57 BHAEtE 0 TRRHEEENAR -

COMPETITION CO

governance and has taken an open approach to disclosing information
about its operations. The Commission endeavours to maintain interactive
communication with the public and stakeholders by providing timely
and appropriate information through various channels including media
briefings, press releases, annual report, formal announcements and the
Commission’s bilingual website (www.compcomm.hk).

The Commission’s website presents a comprehensive platform to provide
local and overseas visitors with first-hand information, including the
Ordinance and Guidelines, various policies and operational documents,
press releases and publications, speeches and presentations, educational
materials as well as the Commission’s decisions and other news and
activities. Members of the public can also sign up for email alerts to receive
latest information on the Commission’s activities and development. To cope
with the full implementation of the Ordinance, the Commission launched
its revamped website in December 2015 with an enhanced structure and
expanded content.
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To handle the rapidly increasing number of enquires and complaints from
business and the general public more effectively and efficiently, a contact
centre with a designated telephone hotline and an email account was
established to streamline general enquires regarding the Ordinance and
the Commission’s work as well as complaints on competition issues in Hong
Kong. A total of 1,192 general enquiries were received during the year
under review.

CONTROL MECHANISMS

Financial Control

The operations of the Commission are financed by subvention from
the Government. To ensure these public funds are spent properly, the
Commission exercises stringent control over its spending and remains
prudent in preparing the annual budget. In accordance with the agreed
administrative arrangement with the Government, the Commission may
set aside its unspent recurrent subvention in the form of reserve fund for
meeting operational contingencies. The total amount of unspent recurrent
subvention shall not exceed 25% of the government subvention in the
following financial year (reserve ceiling). Any amount in excess of this
reserve ceiling is repayable to the Government. As the Ordinance was fully
implemented on 14 December 2015 and the Commission is still at its initial
stage of enforcement operations, the Government, having regard to the
Commission’s work plan as well as its budgetary position, has agreed to
let the Commission retain and deploy the surplus in excess of the reserve
ceiling on education and outreach activities as well as other activities for
preparation of potential cases to be brought to the Tribunal.

The Commission adopts stringent financial and procurement policies and
procedures with reference to that of the Government. Regular reports on
the Commission’s subvention utilization, financial position and investment
activities are compiled for routine monitoring and resource management
by the executive team. To ensure proper scrutiny is exercised by the
Commission, a “Summary of Financial Position” is submitted to the Finance
and Administration Committee quarterly and the Commission half-yearly
while a “Report on Investment Activities” is submitted to the Commission
on a half-yearly basis.

2015/2016 % #f
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Budget monitoring and control

The Commission prepares its annual budget on expenditures in conjunction
with its business plan for the following financial year. The expenditure
budget is reviewed and endorsed by the Finance and Administration
Committee before submission to the Commission for approval. The
approved expenditure budget will then be submitted to the Government.
Procurement is made after confirmation of fund availability with reference
to the approved expenditure budget. Quarterly reports outlining budget
utilisation and analysing budget variances are prepared and incorporated
in the “Summary of Financial Position” for review by Commission Members.

Internal Control

To safeguard assets and ensure compliance with the Ordinance and other
statutory requirements, the Commission needs to establish an internal
control system which is efficient, effective and well-understood by
Commission Members and staff. Segregation of duties is upheld as much
as practicable. Appropriate checks and balances are incorporated in the
rules, policies and procedures on daily operating activities. Briefings, on-
the-job training and regular updates on rules and practices are provided
to staff to ensure they understand their respective authorities, roles and
responsibilities.

Policies and procedures are in place to control access to confidential and
sensitive information to authorised Commission Members and staff only. A
case management system is implemented as the central repository for the
enforcement teams to ensure proper classification and handling of case

information.

External Checks and Balances

The financial statements of the Commission are subject to audit by an
external auditor which is not engaged in any other non-audit services for
the Commission. A formal tender exercise is conducted for the selection of
external auditors. KPMG was appointed to be the Commission’s external
auditor in the financial years of 2014/15 and 2015/16.
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CODE OF CONDUCT

To safeguard public interest and accountability as well as to uphold
integrity and impartiality, the Commission has issued a Code of Conduct for
Commission/Committee Members which sets out, inter alia, the prohibition
of solicitation, acceptance or offering of advantages, and avoidance of
conflict of interests through disclosure of interests. Following the full
implementation of the Ordinance on 14 December 2015, the Commission
conducted a review of the Code of Conduct and further strengthened rules
governing disclosure of interests.

The Commission has maintained a register of interests containing
the pecuniary and personal interests of members in respect of their
directorships and shareholdings in companies, remunerated employment,
ownership of property or land and memberships of boards and other
organisations engaging in economic activities relevant to Hong Kong. The
register is available for public inspection on the Commission’s website
and at the office of the Commission. During the year under review, the
register was updated from time to time based on notifications by respective
Members in addition to a mandatory update at the beginning of the year.
In accordance with the rules of procedure, where a written resolution via
circulation of a paper or a discussion of matters at a meeting might give rise
to a declarable interest, Members would duly make appropriate disclosures
and where appropriate abstain from voting, or withdraw from the relevant
meetings during the discussion of an item concerned.

The Commission is committed to engaging, attracting and retaining a
high quality workforce with strong professional standards and integrity.
The Commission has adopted a Code of Conduct for staff which aims
to promote high ethical standards and fair dealings in the conduct of
its operations. The Code of Conduct sets out the expected standard of
behaviour and reminds staff of their legal and contractual obligations to the
Commission. It also provides specific guidelines on various issues, such as
confidentiality of information, offer and acceptance of other interests etc. In
addition, the Commission makes arrangement with other agencies like the
Independent Commission Against Corruption and the Office of the Privacy
Commission for Personal Data to provide briefing sessions to staff on laws
and regulations as well as corporate governance concepts and practices
that are relevant to how they conduct themselves and the way they carry
out their duties.
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THE COMMISSION’S GUIDELINES AND POLICY
DOCUMENTS

The Ordinance requires the Commission to adopt a number of Guidelines
on the manner in which it will interpret and give effect to each of the
competition rules and the procedural aspects of the Ordinance. As set out
at page 10 above, the six published Guidelines are:

Guideline on the First Conduct Rule
Guideline on the Second Conduct Rule
Guideline on the Merger Rule
Guideline on Complaints

Guideline on Investigations

Guideline on Applications for a Decision under Sections 9 and 24
(Exclusions and Exemptions) and Section 15 Block Exemption Orders

With the exception of the Guideline on the Merger Rule, the Guidelines apply
to all sectors of the economy.

The Guidelines represented an important task for the Commission as part of
its preparation for the full commencement of the Ordinance in December
2015. After an extended period of public engagement and consultation
with the Legislative Council, the Guidelines were issued and made available
to the public on 27 July 2015.

OTHER GUIDANCE AND POLICY DOCUMENTS

In addition to the Guidelines, the Commission also issued various Guidance
and Policy Documents during the year to assist the public and different
stakeholders in their understanding of the Ordinance and the Commission’s
approach to various matters. These are:

How to Assess “Turnover” for Exclusions from the Competition
Ordinance Conduct Rules (5 November 2015) — which summarises
and explains the rules about the calculation of turnover in the
Ordinance and the Competition (Turnover) Regulation;

Fees Payable for Making an Application to the Competition
Commission (12 November 2015) — which outlines the fees charged
by the Commission for applications for a Decision under Sections 9
and 24 (Exclusions and Exemptions) and Section 15 (Block Exemption
Orders) of the Ordinance;
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Investigation Powers of the Competition Commission and Legal
Professional Privilege (31 December 2015) — which sets out the
general approach the Commission will take when exercising its
compulsory investigation powers under the Ordinance and how it will
handle claims to Legal Professional Privilege when executing a search
warrant issued under section 48 of the Ordinance;

Enforcement
Policy

FREER 2015 F 11 BRRT (HUABR) R(GHITAE
FEBERD ©

The Commission’s Enforcement Policy and Cartel Leniency
Policy were published in November 2015.
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Enforcement policy (19 November 2015) - The Enforcement Policy
supplements the Ordinance and the Guidelines by providing
guidance on how the Commission intends to exercise its enforcement
function in investigating possible contraventions of the First Conduct
Rule and the Second Conduct Rule through: (a) prioritising the use
of the Commission’s operational resources to investigate conduct
that may contravene the conduct rules in an efficient and timely
manner; and (b) identifying an enforcement response that is suitable
and proportionate where the Commission considers a contravention
of the Ordinance has occurred. The Enforcement Policy clarifies
that when considering whether to investigate a particular case, the
Commission will accord priority to those cases which involve any one
or more of the following types of conduct: (a) cartel conduct; (b) other
agreements contravening the First Conduct Rule causing significant
harm to competition in Hong Kong; and (c) abuses of substantial

market power involving exclusionary behaviour by incumbents; and

Leniency Policy for Undertakings Engaged in Cartel Conduct (19
November 2015) - which explains the Commission’s approach to
leniency applications and provides a template agreement which will
form the basis of all leniency agreements to be entered into between
the Commission and successful leniency applicants (see page 15 for
further details on the Commission’s Leniency Policy).
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Finally, and in line with the Commission’s MoU with the CA, the Commission
and the CA jointly issued Form AD (together with an Explanatory Note on
Form AD) on 27 November 2015 to be used by prospective applicants for a

decision under sections 9 and/or 24 of the Ordinance.

MARKET STUDIES AND OTHER COMPETITION POLICY
ADVICE

During the year under review, the Commission actively carried out its
function of conducting market studies into matters affecting competition
in markets in Hong Kong, and advising the Government on competition
matters.

In June 2015, the Commission made a submission to the Environment
Bureau in response to the Bureau’s “Public Consultation on the Future
Development of the Electricity Market”. The Commission recommended
in its submission a number of measures to facilitate the introduction
of competition into Hong Kong's electricity market. In particular, the
Commission recommended setting up an independent advisory body that
could make proposals for (1) granting network access for new entrants; (2)
setting up a wholesale electricity market; (3) enhancing interconnection
between grids within Hong Kong and between Hong Kong and the
Mainland; and (4) adopting measures to deal with transitional issues arising
from the introduction of competition. In addition to the submission to
the Environment Bureau, the Commission also organised jointly with the
Consumer Council a public forum in September 2015 to discuss the way
forward for Hong Kong's electricity market. An assembly of some 100
legislators, business leaders, professionals, technical experts and academia
attended the forum.

AEASAR
OFSUMET COURCIL

HEBNHEEREGMN 2015 F9BEH T
SmEBENTISHRIR

The Commission and the Consumer Council jointly organised a discussion
forum on competition in electricity markets in September 2015 to discuss
the way forward for Hong Kong's electricity market.

BATBZHRF 1 wiB
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The Commission continued its work on two market studies throughout
the year. The first is a study of certain aspects of the market for residential
building renovation and maintenance. This study was initiated in response to
public concerns over alleged collusive activities in the market and the results
of this study will enable the Commission to better understand the market
concerned, so as to inform its enforcement and advocacy efforts going
forward. The Commission will publish the results of this study in the second
quarter of 2016". The Commission is also aware of the public concerns over
auto-fuel prices in Hong Kong and is conducting a study on the auto-fuel
market. The main goal of the study is to gain a better understanding of the
auto-fuel market, including the market structure, auto-fuel prices and the
competition conditions more generally. It is expected that the Commission
will publish the results of this study later in 2016.

ENGAGEMENT AND EDUCATION

The Commission also has an on-going role to inform the Hong Kong public
and businesses about the benefits of competition to the Hong Kong
economy and the need for them to be aware of and to comply with the
Ordinance. Therefore, the Commission has been actively engaging with
its stakeholders to understand their concerns and deliver simple and clear
messages about the Ordinance through on-going meetings and seminars,

various educational materials and special projects.

o GEEEROEBARKER  BE (IE6) WEENBRIFE -

The Commission has been actively reaching out to the public and businesses to explain the key elements and benefits of the Ordinance.

* R BEEC AT ARNIEAIREE -

*

The results of the study have been published at the time of writing.
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Businesses

During the year, the Commission conducted six seminars targeting SMEs,
trade associations and the public. One of the seminars was co-organised
with the Support and Consultation Centre for SMEs of the Trade and
Industry Department which was one of the Commission’s initiatives to
collaborate with government departments in reaching out to SMEs. The
response to these seminars was overwhelming with full houses who raised

questions on different topics.

Shortly before the full commencement of the Ordinance, the Commission
published a practical toolkit - “How to comply with the Competition
Ordinance” in November 2015. Featuring useful checklists for identifying
and classifying potential risks, as well as practical measures to consider in
formulating a tailor-made compliance strategy, the toolkit aims to assist
businesses, especially SMEs, review their business practices and develop a
compliance strategy that best suits their needs.

To further extend its outreach, the Commission participated in the
Entrepreneur Day and World SME Expo organised by the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council in May and December 2015 respectively. The
Commission’s booths at the two events featured information panels about
the Ordinance, educational videos on various forms of anti-competitive
conduct as well as brochures targeting different stakeholders.
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am  CAMTEFERFESN — RNESEERER)
“How to comply with the Competition Ordinance”
Practical Compliance Toolkit for SMEs

o HEESHETAIEH K TERFRNCEE ) o IEREME RIS o
The Commission participates in the Entrepreneur Day and World SME Expo to extend
its outreach to businesses.
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Trade and professional associations

The Commission launched a project on trade and professional associations
(associations) in mid-2015 to ensure their compliance with the Ordinance.
A report was released in March 2016 to announce the initial results of the
project, which are encouraging.

The Commission commenced the project with the publication of “The
Competition Ordinance and Trade Associations” brochure in June 2015
which was sent to over 500 associations, followed by a series of seminars
for different associations. In addition to advocacy and education efforts,
the Commission reviewed the published practices of over 350 associations
with official websites. The Commission had received a positive response
overall and was aware that in the period immediately before or following
commencement, a number of associations removed or were in the course
of removing their price restrictions or fee scales. Details of the project are
discussed further on page 52.

In addition to the above project, the Commission continued to work closely
with trade and industry associations with numerous briefings and meetings
conducted throughout the year so that they could assist their members to
comply with the new law.
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“The Competition Ordinance and Trade Associations” brochure.
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Sir Christopher Bellamy QC (Left) and Professor Frederic Jenny (Right) share their experiences at the Distinguished Speaker Lecture Series.
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General public and other stakeholders

The Distinguished Speaker Lecture Series was the brainchild of the late
Dr. Stanley Wong, the first CEO of the Commission. The Commission
organised the second and third instalments of the Series during the
year. In June 2015, Sir Christopher Bellamy QC, former President of the
Competition Appeal Tribunal in the UK and former judge of the General
Court of the European Union, shared his insights on the role of the judiciary
in competition law enforcement. The third lecture was delivered in January
2016 by Professor Frederic Jenny, Chairman of the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Competition Law and
Policy Committee and former Judge at the Supreme Court of France, who
talked about the role of economics in competition law enforcement.

EEATRMNEHREFE (BB 2016 F3H31H)

Engagement Facts and Figures (As at 31 March 2016)
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BREE  TEHE P/ EEEBRARRARAL
representatives of business chambers, industry associations,
SMEs, professional bodies and members of the public reached
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Based on the enquiries and complaints the Commission received since
full commencement of the Ordinance, an updated set of frequently asked
questions (FAQs) was released on the Commission’s website in February
2016 providing answers and clarifications to common questions and
misconceptions related to competition issues faced by businesses and the
general public in Hong Kong.

MEDIA & PUBLICITY

The Commission believes advocacy is just as important to promoting
competition as enforcement actions, if not more important at the
introductory stage of a new law. As an open and transparent organisation,
the Commission endeavours to maintain effective and bilateral
communications with the public and the mass media in providing updates
on the Commission’s development.

Throughout the year, the Commission held six media events/gatherings,
issued 19 press releases and received 16 press interviews to keep local and
international media abreast of its latest development and the progress of
its work. These efforts generated extensive coverage and publicity for both
the Commission and the Ordinance.

e FEA - BEEEAMEEEERMERRE -

The Commission kept local and international media abreast of its latest development during the year.
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The “Compete with Integrity” TV Series has won numerous awards in international competitions.
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Over 17,000 members of the public visited the Commission’s
debut roving exhibition between September and November

2015.
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‘Compete with Integrity” Roving Exhibition
Opening Ceremony

Leading up to the commencement day

As competition law is a new concept for the Hong Kong community, the
Commission adopted an innovative and unprecedented way of explaining
the benefits and main provisions of the Ordinance through a ten-episode
TV programme entitled “Compete with Integrity”in July 2015 to educate the
public and help businesses understand the imminent need for compliance.
Starring well-known actors and aired at prime time on a local TV channel,
each one-minute episode carries a hypothetical example presented in a
real-life situation. The key messages got across the community reaching
over 1.5 million of audience every night during the broadcast period. The
programme was also shown in competition law seminars and was very well

received both locally and internationally.

-

THRFERE, EREHES -
“Compete with Integrity” Roving Exhibition Opening Ceremony.
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To sustain the noise and awareness created by the programme and to reach
a different audience sector, a similar set of programmes was broadcast on
radio in September.

In addition, the Commission’s debut roving exhibition, “Compete with
Integrity”, featuring informative panels and specially designed interactive
electronic games was held at seven locations across Hong Kong between
September and November 2015 to further enhance awareness of the
Ordinance among the general public.

To cope with the full implementation of the Ordinance and to better
accommodate new and expanding content, the Commission launched its
revamped website in December 2015 providing an enhanced structure
for easy navigation and quicker access to information. With its improved
features, businesses and members of the public can easily make an enquiry,
file complaints or find out details of different kinds of applications and
procedures through the website.

Publicity campaign on full commencement of the Ordinance

In addition to a press conference held on 14 December 2015 announcing
the full commencement of the Ordinance, the Commission launched a city-
wide publicity campaign between December 2015 and February 2016 on
multiple platforms to raise public awareness and call for compliance by
businesses. A cartoon cat representing greedy and collusive businessmen
engaged in anti-competitive conduct was the key figure throughout the

Commission’s promotion campaign for the Ordinance’s commencement.

e BEEN 2015 F 12 BERBANEEES) - EH GREEM) 2EE -

The Commission launched a city-wide publicity campaign in December 2015 to announce the full commencement of the Competition Ordinance.
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With the aim of reaching out to a wider audience, the TV and radio
Announcements of Public Interests (API) were supported by an extensive
media campaign on multiple platforms including print, bus, tram, minibus,
MTR, outdoor TV and online platforms including Yahoo, YouTube and
newspaper mobile application.

Numerous interviews and articles were published in key print and electronic
media prior to full commencement of the Ordinance. An article by the CEO
announcing the full commencement was also published in the print media
on 14 December 2015.

Ongoing advocacy

In March 2016, three months after the Ordinance came into full effect,
the Commission sent out publicity posters on the full commencement
of the Ordinance to a large number of businesses in Hong Kong and the
TV announcement on full commencement of the Ordinance was rerun as
a reminder for compliance. The poster campaign was proven to be very
popular and numerous requests were received from businesses asking for
more posters to be displayed in their offices showing increased interest in

the new law from the community.

The Commission updates its website regularly with latest news on
its progress of work, details of seminars and events as well as various
publications and educational materials. The Commission’s YouTube channel
is also regularly updated with its educational and announcement videos.
The Commission’s website received around 5.3 million hits throughout the
year, more than double of the figure in the previous year.

-

S FER
MTR publicity poster

The Commission launched its revamped website in December 2015 to provide an

effective interface platform for the public and businesses.
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Achievement & Recognition

The Commission has won numerous local and international awards for its
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{ERIEH Items 4815 Awards received fEZ5 K48 Awarded by
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outreach and publicity activities during 2015/16:

“Compete with NEBARDE(PERFINE | HAIKE International Competition Network and
2015-2016 Competition Advocacy Contest

Winner in the category of “Catalysing Competition
Reforms through Citizen and Civil Society Engagement”

Integrity” TV Series

M GREEG) B2
mEN  BiRES
“The Competition

Ordinance is now in
full effect” TVC

(&R BBEER
Educational video on
“Cartel”

b
Website

2016 F /R EEERBI(ELLE
'SRRAEREEERNR .,
Antitrust Writing Awards 2016

“Most Innovative Antitrust Soft Law”

RIEMRGEFHIESR

THE / BRESHER , §HE

Excellence in Visual Communications

Bronze in the category of “Educational/Infomercial”

RIEIRGEHIESR

TIEZFIHIBHERI , RERE

Excellence in Visual Communications

Grand Winner in the category of “Non-Profit Organisations”

B ER G EH ISR

TARBHAER =88

Excellence in Visual Communications

Gold in the category of “Public Awareness”

RERGEN R
TEUF AR 5 SREE

Excellence in Visual Communications
Silver in the category of “Government”

2016 FHEERHEEZTETE]
&8

Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme 2016
Gold

World Bank Group

Concurrences Review EAZEEFA
FERIAAS

Concurrences Review and George
Washington University

Questar Awards 2016

Questar Awards 2016

Questar Awards 2016

BB R R E i A= R
TEREEEE

The Office of the Government Chief
Information Officer and the Equal
Opportunities Commission
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INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES

The Commission was an active participant in international and regional
activities during the year. Competition agencies around the world are
increasingly recognising the importance of international co-operation
in harmonising approaches to the implementation of competition law
and ensuring effective enforcement. For a newly formed agency such
as the Commission, the opportunity to learn from and engage with its
international counterpart agencies is vital to developing the skills of its staff
and adopting internationally recognised best practices.

The International Competition Network (ICN) is the only international body
devoted exclusively to competition law enforcement and its members
represent national and multinational competition authorities. During the
year under review the Commission participated in a range of ICN activities
including the Annual Conference in Sydney in April 2015 and a Unilateral
Conduct Workshop in Istanbul in November 2015. The Commission also
contributed to various projects of the ICN working groups.

The Commission was greatly assisted by the training offered by the
Organisation for Economic Development (OECD) / Korea Policy Centre

programme. Staff from the Commission attended workshops on Fighting

| DM
- Asian Competition Forum

=

-
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Global Competition Law Forum

International Competition
Network Annual Meeting
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Bid-rigging in Manila in April 2015, Advocacy in Singapore in June 2015 and
Remedies and Commitments in Competition Cases in Jeju in December 2015.

Other international events included presentations at the American Bar
Association (ABA) Anti-trust Spring Meeting in Washington DC in April 2015
and participation in the ABA International Cartel Workshop in Tokyo in
February 2016. The East Asian Top Level Officials’ Meeting on Competition
Policy was held in Ho Chi Minh City in August 2015 and the Asian
Competition Forum in Hong Kong in November 2015.

The Commission received visitors from overseas competition authorities,
including Lord David Currie, Chairperson of the Competition and Markets
Authority (UK). An official of the Directorate-General Competition at the
European Commission in Brussels visited for a week to provide training to
the staff of the Commission in September 2015.

CAPACITY BUILDING

During the year, the Commission continued to strengthen its workforce
particularly in the enforcement team to prepare for the full implementation
of the Ordinance. New positions in the enforcement team were added
and filled by candidates possessing relevant experience in competition
law, investigation and regulation, or competition economics. At the end of
March 2016, the Commission had 47 staff members.

The Commission provided training and development to staff in a variety
of formats including in-house training sessions, external seminars as well
as workshops and conferences held overseas. In August 2015, a Team
Building Day was organised in which all staff members participated to
boost communication and collaboration within the Commission. During
the year, five staff members were sent on short term secondments to
overseas competition agencies to obtain practical enforcement experience.
To cultivate a culture of continuous learning and development, the
Commission provided financial assistance and examination leave to staff

members to support their individual academic study in relevant disciplines.
The Commission continued to develop its infrastructure to improve

operational efficiency and information security. In November 2015, a case
management system was launched to provide a central repository of case
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information and a base for knowledge and intelligence sharing for the
enforcement teams. A project to develop an intranet web portal for the
Commission has started to provide a secure workspace for Commission
Members and staff to access, share and publish documents and information.

INVESTIGATIONS AND COMPLAINTS

From 14 December 2015 persons engaging in anti-competitive conduct in
Hong Kong could contravene the Ordinance.

Enforcing the Ordinance to deter anti-competitive conduct is a key function
of the Commission. It ensures that those who comply with the Ordinance
are not the victims of or disadvantaged by anti-competitive conduct, and
sends a strong signal to businesses of the need to comply with the law.

Prior to full commencement of the Ordinance, the Commission had
received a number of complaints, queries and referrals about potential
competition issues (known as “enforcement contacts”). It received a surge
in enforcement contacts on and after 14 December 2015. Between 14
December 2015 and 31 March 2016, the Commission received a total of 924
enforcement contacts. Majority of these contacts are related to the First
Conduct Rule, with cartel conduct and resale price maintenance being the

major concern.

Figure 1: Enforcement Contacts - nature of alleged conduct’

13ER / i (20155128148 F201653831H) Enforcement Contacts? (14 December 2015 to 31 March 2016) : 924

E—1THTH First Conduct Rule % — T A5FE| Second Conduct Rule
CES Cartel Conduct 192 | BERREEHE  Tying and Bundling 41
RIREREES Resale Price Maintenance 211 | BERXS Exclusive Dealing 29
THEEM Exchange of Information 60 | BB Refusal to Deal 29
BRI Exclusive Dealing 40 | BEEMTEE Predation 2
HttgEm= sk Other Horizontal Agreement 34 | Hith Other 67
EH it 2 5k Other Vertical Agreement 67 BBz Othe

Not related to a Conduct Rule’ 295

| BT RTHIRRT

1. BREEGURES R ZIERGRFITRIIERE -

2. BIERE - ZHRAMEEETAEE BT EERES
BfTHISEATIEER

3. IR0 FEIRER / BAE (B FEG) HG B RRFERE
BEMI ML REFEETREREIRBEFITR
TEHIFESE -

1. Each case may involve allegations of multiple types of anti-competitive conduct.

2. Includes complaints, queries and referrals from other agencies. It excludes intelligence gathered

independently by the Commission.

3. Forexample, the contact was unrelated to the Competition Ordinance or was about the general state

of competition, rather than an allegation of specific anti-competitive conduct by an undertaking.
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IEoN7E 1% ERiER| ~ AEIEEI RHEMERFIE  As set out in its Guideline on Complaints, Guideline on Investigations and

CFRERE Y& 5 nforcement Policy, the Commission considers all complaints and queries it

o BREEEERAMNEINZERFRER Enf Policy, the Commissi iders all lai d queries i

WIREBE—FSTENERIEAZYESIEE  receives and escalates those matters which warrant further assessment to

FEER © an Initial Assessment phase.

E!Z:t 2016 F3B31H BExeH 97 REXE Up to 31 March 2016, the Commission escalated 97 cases to the Initial

ETT S B LEREE Assessment phase. These Initial Assessment cases were either:

. TRIEFRUNE BB ER EENETT . initiated by the Commission of its own volition based on intelligence;

. RELZES SERFZAFBEZTSEES ¢ initiated in response to contact from whistle-blowers or leniency
HMSANEARE SRS REHEY applicants under the Commission's Cartel Leniency Policy; or
MmER  8E

. EFEWRIAIEER « EHRENTTMIEL - . escalated in response to complaints, queries and referrals it received.

BFf_: T FHEXR — #HISiERSF Figure 2: Initial Assessments - nature of alleged conduct*
AlZiTHrtE"

FFFEEZE® (20155128148 F20165F3H31H) Initial Assessments® (14 December 2015 to 31 March 2016) : 97
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E—17AFE E—17A<FEl E—17A~FE : BEE—17/A<FAl oty isy -l
BERTA TIRER RIS TERERVE 1T A Second
First Conduct Rule: First Conduct Rule: First Conduct Rule: Other First Conduct Rule
Cartel Conduct Exchange of Resale Price Conduct Rule
Information Maintenance
4. @I—f—?ﬂﬁ,%’ié]ﬂﬁﬁ%&ﬁ%fé}i PERITBAVIERE o 4. Each case may involve allegations of multiple types of anti-competitive conduct.
RETRERF / BHRWEZHEFRE I Z5FE - 5. Initial Assessments are commenced in response to Enforcement Contacts and other intelligence
ﬁﬁﬂ B EUMTETHFERIEEE AR EHRE e RT gathered by the Commission. For more information on how the Commission conducts Initial
BIFEEIES|E 3.1 Z 44 E% - Assessments, see paragraphs 3.1 to 4.4 of the Commission’s Guideline on Investigations.

BEFEBEZTEE 50 2015/2016F



BA U SF FE Y T {F [0l BR

REVIEW OF WORK FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

EMBREEEHEBEREL - BAEEMNR
EREF  RMRHEBREEREMMEHENER &

BmE

< 921%RYIRER / ERRATFIRESETA
ML A EEFE 62% S REEGHTT

REFETE

- B—AE #22% %K/ EHETIER
SEIRIREEER  BNLAEEEHR
B 18% B REHRITEEERAEE -

WMER=FR T HENEERZSRAE

EBEPRRITRE -

FRERBZ - FRERLNSFHEEZES

EANRANAERE

BEFX= : MIPFHEERSRIITE
(2015 12 H14HE 2016 fF3 A31H)

B RRAIRS

Professional & Technical Services
B MR

Transport, Logistics & Storage
RGRME

Food & Groceries
EERYEEE

Real Estate & Property Management
BEREE

Construction & Infrastructure

$RAT ~ EREMRIRE R KRS
Banking, Financial & Insurance Products & Services

BREE ~ A8 - IRTT - FEREY

Apparel, Footwear, Jewellery, Watches & Accessories

fikis K IS
Travel & Hospitality

RERARKRER

Household Goods & Electrical Appliances

=

B

Education

ERREANEIRER KRR

Beauty & Personal Care Products & Services
BRZE AR RS IEREA

Pharmaceutical, Therapeutic & Other Sciences
FEMRRR - XA REAMERERYE

Pet Health, Grooming & Other Products & Services
=Gk Ers

Information Technology

JR%E

Entertainment

IHRERES

Media & Advertising

HAR KRR

Machinery & Equipment

Rfigs

Health & Fitness
REEMRARTS

Domestic Employment Services
B¥E - MERBE
Agriculture, Forestry & Fishing

HAth
Others

6. BRRZEAAEIZAEERIEL AR HHAEIESE

512725

This escalation process reflects the Commission’s strategic enforcement
focus, as set out in its Enforcement Policy. For example:

. while approximately 21% of enforcement contacts related to
allegations of cartel conduct, 62% of Initial Assessment cases relate to
alleged cartel conduct;

. on the other hand, while approximately 22% of enforcement contacts
related to allegations of resale price maintenance, only 18% of Initial
Assessments related to alleged resale price maintenance.

As set out in Figure 3, these Initial Assessments involve a variety of sectors
across the Hong Kong economy.

At the time of writing, a number of these Initial Assessment cases had
proceeded to in-depth investigations®.

Figure 3: Sectors involved in Initial Assessments
(14 December 2015 to 31 March 2016)

4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

6. For more information on how the Commission conducts Investigations, see paragraphs 5.1 to 7.25
of the Guideline on Investigations
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Voluntary Resolutions

The Commission resolved a number of cases relating to trade and
professional associations in response to swift changes in the behaviour
of market participants following the commencement of the Ordinance.
A number of these changes were the result of ongoing engagement by
the Commission prior to and following the full commencement of the
Ordinance.

The Commission considered that in those cases, taking no further action in
response to swift positive moves to comply was a proportionate response
to the conduct and consistent with its Enforcement Policy.

The majority of these voluntary resolutions resulted from the Commission’s
work with trade and professional associations, as outlined below.

Compliance with the Competition Ordinance - Trade and
professional associations

Trade and professional associations (associations) have a significant role in
the economy, with their members representing the vast majority of Hong
Kong's businesses. These associations have a positive impact on the Hong
Kong economy by encouraging best industry practices, providing training
to members, as well as promoting their industry’s interests. However, as
these associations facilitate interaction between competitors, they must
be careful not to be a source of, or provide support for, anti-competitive

arrangements.

Given the significance of trade associations to Hong Kong’'s economy, the
Commission initiated a compliance project in 2015 to educate trade and
professional associations and review their activities in Hong Kong with a
view to encouraging compliance with the Ordinance. A report was released
in March 2016 to announce the initial results of the project.

The Commission commenced the project with the publication of “The
Competition Ordinance and Trade Associations” brochure in June 2015
which was sent to over 500 associations, followed by a series of seminars
and engagement meetings for different associations.
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In addition to advocacy and education efforts, the Commission reviewed
the published practices of over 350 associations with official websites and
identified over 20 associations whose public practices appeared to place
them at high risk of contravening the Ordinance after it came into full effect.

Examples of high risk practices carried out by these associations included:

. price recommendations and/or fee scales; and

. specific rules or provisions in codes of conduct which sought to
restrict competition between members (e.g. restrictions on members

undercutting fee quotations of other members for the same service).

Price recommendations or fee scales are likely to be regarded as having the
object of harming competition, as ultimately these arrangements may not
differ in substance to a direct price fixing agreement between members
of an association. Similarly, there will be reduced competition between
members if the rules or provisions in codes of conduct restrict members’

ability to price or make other business decisions independently.

Price fixing or agreeing not to compete on price increases the prices
customers pay for goods and services and reduces the other dynamic
benefits of competition, harming consumers, other businesses and the
Hong Kong economy.

In addition to the associations the Commission was already in discussion
with, the Commission wrote to a number of these high risk associations in
November 2015 to ensure that they were aware of its concerns.

The Commission received a positive response to its engagement overall
with changes to the practices of many industries. The Commission is aware
that, as at 31 March 2016, in the period immediately before or following
commencement, 12 associations removed or were in the course of removing
their price restrictions or fee scales. The Commission is encouraged by the
shift in business practices across a range of industries including various
professional services, transport, real estate and insurance. These associations
represent some important sectors in Hong Kong, which previously did not
compete on price. They have taken steps to change long-standing codes

and policies - removing one or more price restrictions or fee scales.
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REEEHINE LR ETEHAYNE ¢ The Commission welcomes the changes made by these associations:

0

Trade Associations = : Change of Conduct
EEEBETH S Hong Kong Container Tractor BUEINE R Fee scale removed
Owner Association
EEENRIEREEE  Hong Kong Real Estate Agencies BUHRIEMEEE Recommended agent
General Association commission removed
EEBBERAZABE  HongKong Society of Notaries EUHIE = Fee scale removed
EEELEE The Association of Accredited {ENETEIELE (IR Code of Practice revised
Advertising Agencies of PRENEMRTEFAIEE4> )  (Paragraphs which restrict price
Hong Kong competition removed)
EERGEHE The Hong Kong Federation BB EREITINER Scale of no-claims
of Insurers discount removed
EEHErmae The Hong Kong Institute of BUHUER Fee scale removed
Surveyors
EBUAER The Hong Kong Jewellers’ & EUHBHS={ER Daily reference price removed
2IREMMEDT Goldsmiths’ Association
EESEEGMEE  The Hong Kong Jewellery & Jade BT HZ2 2818 Daily reference price removed
Manufacturers Association
JHEE Lf22E The Institution of Fire Engineers {&eii@sr<rBI (MIB%  Code of ethics revised
(FHEHE) (Hong Kong Branch) PR&IMEMSERFA0EE4> )  (Paragraphs which restrict price
competition removed)
NBEGR R E35 The Kowloon Pearls, Precious ECEE HZ22BR Daily reference price removed
SIFEMEDS Stones, Jade, Gold & Silver
Ornament Merchants Association
EHRFHE The Law Society of Hong Kong BUHINE Z= Fee scales removed
EEREEES Travel Industry Council of BUHEZZINE Recommended fee removed
Hong Kong
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Importantly, the project demonstrates the effect the Commission can have.
Engaging with associations and businesses can change long-standing
industry practices. Since the publication of the Trade Associations Project
Report in mid-March 2016, at least four other associations the Commission
has been engaging with indicated they are taking steps to remove their
pricing restrictions. This demonstrates that a compliance culture in respect
of competition law is taking shape in Hong Kong.

The Commission will continue its engagement with associations still
engaging in conduct that places their members at risk of contravening
the Ordinance. The Commission is now at the stage where it may take
enforcement action against associations and their members who do not
heed the Commission’s warnings and continue to impose price restrictions

or engage in cartel conduct.

APPLICATION FOR BLOCK EXEMPTIONS

On 17 December 2015, the Commission received an application for a block
exemption order (“Application”) under section 15 of the Ordinance from the
Hong Kong Liner Shipping Association (“Applicant”).

Background

The Applicant represents shipping lines in relation to liner shipping policy
in Hong Kong and other issues. Its 17 members are said to account for
approximately 90% of the containerised liner industry in Hong Kong.
The Applicant seeks a block exemption order in relation to liner shipping
agreements, including vessel sharing agreements (“VSAs”) and voluntary
discussion agreements (“VDAs").

Framework for issue of a block exemption order

Under section 15(1) of the Ordinance, the Commission may issue a block
exemption order in respect of a category of agreement where it is satisfied
that that category of agreement is an ‘excluded agreement’. Section 15(5)
provides that an ‘excluded agreement’ is an agreement that is excluded
from the application of the First Conduct Rule by or as a result of section 1
of Schedule 1 to the Ordinance (“efficiency exclusion”).
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Under section 17 of the Ordinance, an agreement that falls within the
category of agreement specified in a block exemption order is exempt
from the application of the First Conduct Rule, provided that parties to the
agreement comply with the conditions and limitations (if any) in the block
exemption order.

There is no requirement that the Commission issue a block exemption order
in order for undertakings to rely on the efficiency exclusion. Undertakings
may self-assess the legality of their conduct having regard to the First
Conduct Rule and the efficiency exclusion.

Handling of application and other steps

The Commission engaged in an Initial Consultation with the Applicant prior
to the Applicant’s submission of the Application on 17 December 2015.
The Commission published a notice of the Application on its website on 18
December 2015, together with the Applicant’s summary of the Application.

On 19 January 2016, the Commission published a notice on its website
in relation to a preliminary consultation on the Application (“preliminary
consultation”), which called for interested parties to submit their views on
the Application. The preliminary consultation ended on 24 March 2016.

During the preliminary consultation, the Commission received written
submissions from, and/or held meetings with, almost 30 interested parties.
The responses received in this context assisted the Commission in its
consideration of the Application.

The Commission expects to publish its proposed decision in the latter half
of 2016".

COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY — COOPERATION
AND LIAISON

Details of the concurrent jurisdiction between the Commission and the
Communications Authority (CA) under the Ordinance in the broadcasting
and telecommunications sectors are discussed on page 13.

Given the CA’s specific function of regulating the broadcasting and
telecommunications sectors, the CA will ordinarily take the role of Lead
Authority on matters which fall within the concurrent jurisdiction. As at
31 March 2016, the Commission transferred a total 27 complaints and
enquiries to the CA.

* At the time of writing, the Commission has published its proposed decision on the Application.
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(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)

We have audited the financial statements of Competition Commission (“the
Commission”) set out on pages 59 to 85, which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2016, the income and expenditure
account, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
funds and statement of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

THE COMMISSION’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Commission is responsible for the preparation of financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and for such internal control as the Commission determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)

B SRATREFLUENGMYBRERME
TERBEBEEHNZENEE - fTEENRERFI
RICZBENAFIER - BT AR EEF AR
MEHUBREFEEANHERBLAE R
TERHMAE R F EIRE - A E B IR ARAEL
REE M E BB 75 R =B R A A BB IE I -
DEEtEEREREF  BENLIFHBR
HEANEENAMERERER - BT8R
A EREERASHEENEEMEREHE
EHERTROSIRM » LIRFHMEM TR EAIEEEET]
;7K -

HFIHEE  HFIFMESNESIBERETEM
EEMARMNOBIIERIEHER -

ER

HFIRBAE  ZFUBRERCRE (FEMBER
HEA) HEMPEHRMIBEEZEH 2016 F
3 B 31 BRI KR # 2% B L FERIBIE
KERBETRE -

EEREHENSHAR
HETEED
EEPE
JEFTiE 10 58

KT KE 8 12

“E-ARENANH

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the Commission, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Commission as at 31 March 2016 and of the
Commission’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

8 September 2016
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W=ZEE
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

#; 220163531 H LEZE for the year ended 31 March 2016

2016 2015
Hfi5t Note /BT HKS 7T HKS
IZA Income
BT #EED
Government subventions 3 85,320,513 80,562,273
FREEEINA
Application fee income 10 321,817 -
FEUA
Interest income 591,935 687,154
HEIFUTA
Sundry income 60 45
86,234,325 81,249,472
% i Expenditure
W ERS
Staff expenses 4 46,673,748 34,161,409
e
Depreciation 5 7,960,027 6,406,981
FEF 37
Premises expenses 6,245,331 6,174,079
EERARHBEZH
Publicity and public education expenses 12,257,276 3,568,914
ZEETEN £
Auditor’s remuneration 140,000 140,000
mEeXaiie
Honorarium to Commission members 13 3,840,000 3,786,667
Hith& EER
Other operating expenses 6,821,987 9,477,876
83,938,369 63,715,926
FRRER
Surplus for the year 2,295,956 17,533,546

65 22 85 BN I BRI FEIREAI—EB4 o The notes on pages 65 to 85 form part of these financial statements.
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EFEB@ER
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

# 220163531 H LEFEZ for the year ended 31 March 2016

ZEERZETNNNFEERE - BT ERRER . The Commission had no components of comprehensive income other
LA IR EINZEAOAEALIER - Btk - &8 than “surplus for the year” in either of the years presented. Accordingly,
ERMEEEHRIIESHEETNZEUTEREE no separate statement of comprehensive income is presented as the
ZEEN T 2EIWWAMELE M T FEARES M Commission’s “total comprehensive income” was the same as the “surplus for
[ ° the year”in both years.

2 65 225 85 B MIEX B A FEIRFAI—EB4> o The notes on pages 65 to 85 form part of these financial statements.
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BT
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

#2016 3H31H as at 31 March 2016

2016 2015
Bfi5E Note BT HKS 7T HKS
ERENEE
Non-current asset
M - IR REE
Property, plant and equipment 5 9,141,866 12,507,078
mENEE
Current assets
HithEUFE ~ IR RTANR
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 6 425,572 983,845
R RIRITHET
Cash and bank balances 7 72,013,259 72,177,366
72,438,831 73,161,211
mENBE
Current liabilities
B TR
Provision for staff entitlements 8 3,564,264 2,157,267
HitEI R R EETE
Other payables and accruals 9 4,578,803 4,147,942
FEULEREE
Application fee received in advance 10 178,183 -
FEUL AT D
Government subventions received in advance 11 6,018,552 13,364,065
R ER
Surplus subventions 12(b) 20,910,586 16,137,374
35,250,388 35,806,648
mEIEERE
Net current assets 37,188,443 37,354,563
HEERTEEE
Total assets less current liabilities 46,330,309 49,861,641

65 22 85 BN I BRI FEIREAI—EB4 o The notes on pages 65 to 85 form part of these financial statements.
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IHHERRR (18)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

#2016 3H31H as at 31 March 2016

Bf#tz% Note

JEiRENE& 8 Non-current liabilities

W EZEHEE

Provision for staff entitlements 8 1,642,479 2,696,555

FEUEUAT 8RN

Government subventions received in advance 11 15,000,000 15,000,000
16,642,479 17,696,555

B E${E Net assets 29,687,830 32,165,086

B2 Funds

fHEE:

Reserve fund 12(a) 29,687,830 32,165,086

REEH 2016 F9 B 8 H#tHERIZETIE -

EAHLE
BEEEE

% 65 £ 58 85 HAIMIGE B AR BRI —E 7 -

Approved and authorised for issue by the Commission on 8 September
2016.

Anna Wu Hung Yuk
Chairperson of the Commission

The notes on pages 65 to 85 form part of these financial statements.
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EXE2HR
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS

#; 220163531 H LEZE for the year ended 31 March 2016

#{#H == Reserve fund
BT HK$

220144818 Z#8
Balance at 1 April 2014

2014 /2015 EE R EE)
Changes in funds for 2014/2015 :

FAREGREEHEE

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year

AN BB B ERIR S

Transfer to surplus subventions payable to the Government

30,768,914

17,533,546

(16,137,374)

12015538318 K%2015F4F1HZ#8%
Balance at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015

2015/ 2016 EEREE)
Changes in funds for 2015/2016 :

FRRBREHEIIGEIEER

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year

AN B BN B ERIR S

Transfer to surplus subventions payable to the Government

32,165,086

2,295,956

(4,773,212)

2016F3831H 28
Balance at 31 March 2016

29,687,830

8 65 £ 5 85 HRIIET B AR FFHRERAI— 27 -

The notes on pages 65 to 85 form part of these financial statements.
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RERER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

# 220163531 H LEFEZ for the year ended 31 March 2016

2015

Ffi5t Note FBIT HKS

& & ;58 Operating activities

FREER Surplus for the year 2,295,956 17,533,546
8% Adjustments for :
HTEE Depreciation 7,960,027 6,406,981
FIEUZA Interest income (591,935) (687,154)

EEE$ 288 Changes in working capital :
EHAMEWER ~ RERFBATURL / GBI

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables,

deposits and prepayments 573,149 (825,996)
i 8 Z HERHIEM
Increase in provision for staff entitlements 352,921 4,109,473
HAFEN TR FEST B B / (R)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 1,543,975 (3,299,072)
FAULEREEEIE N
Increase in application fee received in advance 178,183 -

FRUNELRS EBA (REZ) /387N

(Decrease)/increase in Government subventions received

in advance (7,345,513) 5,856,727

LEERERSRERE
Net cash generated from operating activities 4,966,763 29,094,505
X & EF Investing activities

EUFIE

Interest received 577,059 657,427

SITEEME KRRV

Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,707,929) (11,556,548)

[FRTF R ERiRE = 8 B BORITIF R IR/ (i)

Maturity/(placement) of bank deposits with original maturity

over three months 40,000,000 (40,000,000)
REEEFRE / (FTA) REREH
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 34,869,130 (50,899,121)
RERFAXFEWIBM/ (B BEE
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 39,835,893 (21,804,616)
FHZR=RATHEY
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 32,177,366 53,981,982
FRZRERAZTHFRY
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7 72,013,259 32,177,366

2 65 225 85 NS B A FEIRF|AI—EB4> o The notes on pages 65 to 85 form part of these financial statements.
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CrEr S
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LrE b ESUEE:
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Competition Commission (“the Commission”) is established under the
Competition Ordinance (“the Ordinance”), Cap. 619, as an independent
statutory body tasked with the functions to enforce the Ordinance. The
functions and powers of the Commission are stipulated in Sections 130
and 131 of the Ordinance. The Commission is committed to promoting a
competitive environment that is conductive to free flow of trade, efficiency
and innovation that brings more choices and better quality and prices of
goods and services to consumers. The address of its registered office is Room
3601, 36/F, Wu Chung House, 213 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Commission is exempt from taxation in respect of the Inland Revenue
Ordinance in accordance with Schedule 5 of Section 22 of the Ordinance.

2. Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by
the Commission is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Commission. The
adoption of these amendments did not have material impact on the
Commission’s financial statements and the Commission has not applied
any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements
is the historical cost basis.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which
is the same as the functional currency of the Commission.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenditure. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. The costs of project-in-progress comprise expenditure
of capital projects not yet completed. Costs of completed projects are
transferred to the appropriate asset category. Repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income and expenditure account during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant
and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or 3 years

Office equipment 3 years
Computer hardware and software 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

2015/2016 % #f
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

No provision for depreciation is made for project-in-progress until such
time when the assets are substantially completed and ready for use.

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. An
impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure account if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an
asset, or of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, is the greater of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the assets. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and
are recognised in the income and expenditure account on the date of
retirement or disposal.

(d) Operating lease charges

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income and
expenditure account on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts, except where the receivables are interest-free
loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables
are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognised when there
is objective evidence of impairment and are measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate where the effect of discounting is material. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that come to the attention of the
Commission about events that have an impact on the asset’s estimated
future cash flows such as significant financial difficulty of the debtor.

Impairment losses for receivables whose recovery is considered doubtful
but not remote are recorded using an allowance account. When the
Commission is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against the receivable directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in the income and expenditure account.

(f) Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave, gratuity and other entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave, gratuity and other entitlements
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for untaken annual leave, gratuity and other
entitlements as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
year end date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave, maternity leave and paternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Employee benefit expenses, including pensions and housing benefits
provided by the Government to the civil service staff seconded
(“seconded staff”) to the Commission, are charged as expense on an
accrual basis in the period in which the associated services are rendered.

(i) Defined contribution retirement scheme

The Commission has joined and made contributions to a mandatory
provident fund scheme established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance.

The obligations for contributions to mandatory provident fund
scheme are recognised as an expense in the income and expenditure
account as incurred. The Commission has no further payment
obligation once the contributions have been paid. The assets of
the scheme are held separately from those of the Commission in an
independently trustee-administered fund.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when

the Commission has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. When

the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present

value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benéefits is remote.

(j) Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Commission and the income and expenditure, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, income is recognised in the income and expenditure

account as follows:

(i) Government subventions

Government subventions are recognised initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the
Commission will comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Government subventions that compensate the Commission for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in the income and
expenditure account on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred. Government subventions relating
to specific projects are deferred and recognised in the income and
expenditure account over the period necessary to match them with
the costs that they are intended to compensate.

(i) Application fee income

Application fee income is recognised only to the extent of costs
incurred that it is probable to be recoverable.

(iii)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method.

2015/2016 % #f



(j)

(k)

FESEBE ()
WARIFERR (48)

(iv)

FABEA L

(i)

(ii)

FETRIGA
TR A IR FEST B LERRER -

FALEZARKER S BRI
BEEHIEMAL  BREZAL -

(a)
(b)

()

e aERs L EE
HRZEREAREN B
BABRESNEREENE -

ELLFEMEL T —EREE RS
B E R

(a)

(b)

(d)

(e)

(f)

ZEREBREZERRA—KE
KRB (lEEBERAF  MWE
AR KRERKBARIGER
b B AN ) -

—EEE—ESENLEA
AmR—EEA eSS
BOBAS AT o

ZERERMBNTFRES
EBREEARMMZERN
BEREME ZEMETE -

ZEBRAE W) BT
BOMELA FERHI s L E ) -

(j)

(k)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income recognition (continued)

(iv)  Sundry income

Sundry income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Commission if that person:

(@)  has control or joint control over the Commission;
(b) has significant influence over the Commission; or

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Commission.

(i) An entity is related to the Commission if any of the following
conditions applies:

(@) The entity and the Commission are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(d)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Commission or an
entity related to the Commission.

(f)  The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person
identified in (k)(i).
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2. FESEBE (&)
(k) FAEAL (48)

(i)  TFELLTFEMIEL T —EEERLS
HEBREERRM - (1)

(@) E (K()(a) TR AIME A
MBEAHZEREEAY
27 SZEARZER (%
B ERRNEAR) HERE
BABZKE °

(h) FZER BEMBH—XEE
WEMKERREERMEE
REEANBRTS -

ARG F R EIEEHRERZ S IEH
ARFEZATHZZA LR ENRERS -

3. BFFHEED
BT HBBN Th 3 5 B4 R 1T I B (T BT )
BRTHESER (E6) HEEES -

EERPEEMNOBUSHENEERZRER
WEEUT BN EI IR T

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k) Related parties (continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Commission if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(g) A person identified in (k)(i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(h)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Commission.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.

3. Government subventions

Government subventions represent the funds granted by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“the Government”) for the
Commission’s operations to implement the Ordinance.

Reconciliation between Government subventions granted for the year and
Government subventions recognised in the income and expenditure account
during the year:

2016 2015
BT HKS /BT HKS
KEFRRERS Z BITHEED
Government subventions granted for the year 77,975,000 86,419,000
A FEINE R FRFEZAVEASHEED (BFEE11)
Government subventions received in prior years and
recognised during the year (Note 11) 12,595,513 7,263,273
90,570,513 93,682,273
BATRW B #EE) (BdEE11)
Transfer to Government subventions received in advance (Note 11) (5,250,000) (13,120,000)
TRz IR B A RESSRYEUT 18
Government subventions recognised in the income and
expenditure account 85,320,513 80,562,273
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4. HEMAX 4, Staff expenses

FM & ELfthigF
Salaries and other benefits 46,000,905 33,236,343

RIAE RAAFIE ATREETEIZ 5k

Pensions and contributions to mandatory

provident fund scheme 672,843 925,066
46,673,748 34,161,409
5. Y% HEBREE 5. Property, plant and equipment
BhEEGR
: % B
HEMELE BWAER Computer BEEH®E FRIER
Leasehold (0] (<] hardware Furniture and RE Project-in-
improvements equipment  and software fixtures Motor vehicles progress
BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HK$
373
Cost
R2014%481H
At 1 April 2014 6,610,882 1,054,875 6,009,803 497,067 - 595,900 14,768,527
fEE
Additions 1,332,095 227,092 3,106,616 45,302 285,677 - 4,996,782
BE
Transfers - - 595,900 - - (595,900) -
72015%3A31R
At 31 March 2015 7,942,977 1,281,967 9,712,319 542,369 285,677 - 19,765,309
BEHAE
Accumulated depreciation
7201454810
At 1 April 2014 435,555 57,470 333,233 24,992 - - 851,250
e
Charges 3,115,780 380,282 2,689,804 173,502 47,613 - 6,406,981
$820155%3H31H
At 31 March 2015 3,551,335 437,752 3,023,037 198,494 47,613 - 7,258,231
WREE
Carrying amount
7£201553A318
At 31 March 2015 4,391,642 844,215 6,689,282 343,875 238,064 - 12,507,078
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5. ¥ - BBRRE (1) 5. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
EhatE R
) U BHR
HEMERE BWOZEHRE Computer BERE ERIEH
Leasehold Office hardware Furniture and bl <} Project-in-
improvements equipment  and software fixtures Motor vehicles progress
BJT HKS 7T HKS 7T HKS 7T HKS 7T HKS &I HKS
5%
Cost
78201554810
At 1 April 2015 7,942,977 1,281,967 9,712,319 542,369 285,677 - 19,765,309
BE
Additions 176,720 135,528 3,840,974 8,024 - 433,569 4,594,815
742016 3A31H
At 31 March 2016 8,119,697 1,417,495 13,553,293 550,393 285,677 433,569 24,360,124
REHNE

Accumulated depreciation

#2015%4H81H

At 1 April 2015 3,551,335 437,752 3,023,037 198,494 47,613 - 7,258,231
e

Charges 3,405,693 452,437 3,862,395 182,367 57,135 - 7,960,027
$22016E3H31H

At 31 March 2016 6,957,028 890,189 6,885,432 380,861 104,748 - 15218258
IRE{E

Carrying amount

7201634318

At 31 March 2016 1,162,669 527,306 6,667,861 169,532 180,929 433,569 9,141,866
6. HEUW - IHERFEMK 6. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
2016 2015
BT HKS BT HKS
Hth R

Other receivables 48,344 79,500

bl AN
Deposits and prepayments 377,228 904,345
425,572 983,845
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7. RERIBITHERE 7. Cash and bank balances
2016 2015
BT HKS BT HKS
& RIRTHETE
Cash and bank balances 2,013,259 7,177,366
[FRTFF R #EE = {8 A RS HRERI T 17 5K
Short-term bank deposits with original maturity not
more than three months 70,000,000 25,000,000
HaRASZFEY
Cash and cash equivalents 72,013,259 32,177,366
FREHEEE=EArERITER
Bank deposits with original maturity over three months - 40,000,000
72,013,259 72,177,366
8. HEZHEER 8. Provision for staff entitlements
2016 2015
BT HKS BT HKS
T4
At beginning of the year 4,853,822 744,349
Bihs
Provisions made 4,770,925 4,375,381
BCH
Forfeitures (1,124,643) (181,712)
ExIRERZ &8
Amounts paid and utilised (3,293,361) (84,196)
TR
At end of the year 5,206,743 4,853,822
A RENER S
Less: Current portion (3,564,264) (2,157,267)
IEmENER 7>
Non-current portion 1,642,479 2,696,555

BENANERBEAITHRETHMENEH
BEEANHRERSNERMENN®
B~ RENFBREEMEEZAHEMERIL

Provision for staff entitlements is set up for gratuity payments, unutilised
annual leave and other staff-related benefits which will be payable to
employees of the Commission upon their fulfilment during the contract
period or at end of the contract period.
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9. HithEHKREHEHR 9. Other payables and accruals
2016 2015
/BT HK$ BT HKS
FEAS B FRIE (BT
Amount due to the Government (note) - 813,461
E At B X
Other payables 1,195,896 1,701,443
FEETER
Accrued expenses 2,356,970 639,735
=g
Others 1,025,937 993,303
4,578,803 4,147,942

Fdsx - 722015 F 3 B 31 H » ERNEBFHRIEA Note: At 31 March 2015, the amount due to the Government was unsecured,

IR - TETERBIREREE  f56 interest-free and repayable on demand. The balance mainly
FERRIAFERBENRMTHAE represented unpaid cost for staff seconded from the Government.

FFrEHMtMENGTEESTERETR —FR All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be settled within
#EE o one year.

10. FEWERES 10. Application fee received in advance
2016 2015

/&JT HKS BIT HKS
F1))
At beginning of the year - _
HEARREIRIHEE
Application fee received during the year 500,000 -
KRR B AREE3 R £ 5R
Amount recognised in income and expenditure account (321,817) -
FXR
At end of the year 178,183 -

K EREERERASTMNEINE BE BiEEB TS Fee received for the application of block exemption order is deferred

RRRAESR A "FANEEE | 0 MEFE G and recognised as “Application fee received in advance” in the statement

SEREANRAERNSEEFEIZIEB RFE of financial position. An amount equivalent to the cost incurred for

AW A o L2 E 0 RED AW AT assessment of the application is recognised as income in the income and

MEREREHREEE - expenditure account. Upon completion of the assessment, any fee not
recognised as income will be refunded to the applicant.
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11. Government subventions received in advance

2016 2015
BT HKS BT HK$
F1)
At beginning of the year 28,364,065 22,507,338
U2 R B ARERERY 288 (H9EE3)
Amount recognised in income and expenditure account (Note 3) (12,595,513) (7,263,273)
HEREITE AR 1218 B RAEEEAYHHED (BFEE3)
Subventions received during the year and to be recognised
within 12 months (Note 3) 5,250,000 13,120,000
FXR
At end of the year 21,018,552 28,364,065
7~ Represented by :
ik =i D)
Current portion 6,018,552 13,364,065
FERENER S
Non-current portion 15,000,000 15,000,000
FR
At end of the year 21,018,552 28,364,065

TR #B) ZRAN B ES K AEER 2MAR
BIREE I HIEE MARMAYFIR - tFHIR
FREEAREEABEEZHEENBEEF
HoTE ST R B A RERR AU o

JERBNEBDMETFFEBUFHS 2014 &£ 2 B 10 HEL
AW TR EMN— X T miRaYZEs—
HEE > U RAEEHEENIIREE -

Government subventions received in advance represent subventions
received in connection with various expenditure items to be incurred after
the end of the reporting period and are deferred and recognised as income
in the income and expenditure account on a systematic basis in the same
period in which the expenses are incurred.

The balance under non-current portion represents an additional one-off
funding granted by the Government on 10 February 2014 for conducting
groundwork research and one-off expenses to support and strengthen the
Commission’s initial set-up.
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12. (iR E =M & e
(a) fEfREE

RBEEHNRIEREMEFLORBITER -
RBESHREANBUTHE) - W% - HBR
R BAIRE {E R AR B A FTHERL © 5 B {ERF I
FEBPXR - FRESAREBOBUSHENRER
TEEREFREE I T EMEFE 2 B #ENEE
B925% (" fREMELEBR,) - REHEEAIF—M
& HHEEETER - RIFFIBHBR
HESRREIMERERETNEREHEDN
HESEBRERR (EHR) RIBHARR LR
7 R H 8 8 L BRBKR D A BUR #B B 7R 5758
BUR

12. Reserve fund and surplus subventions

(a) Reserve fund

The reserve fund is established to meet operational contingencies.
The reserve fund comprises unspent Government subventions to the
Commission, plus the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
and investment income. The total amount of the unspent Government
subventions at the end of a financial year shall not exceed 25% of the
Government subventions to the Commission in the following financial year
(“the reserve ceiling”). The reserve fund is available for general use and
can be spent at the discretion of the Commission. The amount of unspent
Government subventions to the Commission at the end of a financial year in
excess of the reserve ceiling would be returned to the Government, unless
the reserve ceiling is raised by the Permanent Secretary for Commerce
and Economic Development (Commerce, Industry and Tourism) following
consultation with the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau (The

Treasury Branch).

(b) $HBIEES (b) Surplus subventions
2016 2015
BT HK$ BT HKS
REBFHENRER (FFEEG)

Surplus subventions retained (note (i)) 16,137,374 -

FE(STEUR#EBN R ER (BERE (i)
Surplus subventions payable to the Government (note (ii)) 4,773,212 16,137,374
20,910,586 16,137,374

BfaE -

(i) RIEFS 2015 & 3 A 31 HAVREH LR -
#BH i fis L BRI R B0 A AU BT H B B B
16,137,374 JURER T EEREMRBUT -
BREHERZ S RBAE BB
RN RER - LEAREECEEE
FETEIRB o

Notes:

(i

=

Based on the reserve ceiling as at 31 March 2015, the surplus in
excess of the reserve ceiling amounting to $16,137,374 should
be returned to the Government in the next financial year. The
Government has approved the Commission to retain and deploy
the surplus in excess of the reserve ceiling in order to meet the
committed and planned expenditures of the Commission.
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12. RfREEMHEE RS (8)
(b) FEENEER (48)

(i)

RIEHL 2016 F 3 B 31 HAURE(E LR -
#B H A _E BRI R BN MO BT w8 BN B AR
4,773,212 TURER T FEERZHRBUF ©
BERECABARBREMNERBHGE
B ERAHEEIRER - LESHREZEE %
BERETEINY - #EMBERIRAES
B BAFEEBZILEREE o

13. EXRABARS
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12. Reserve fund and surplus subventions (continued)

(b) Surplus subventions (continued)

(i)

Based on the reserve ceiling as at 31 March 2016, the surplus in
excess of the reserve ceiling amounting to $4,773,212 should
be returned to the Government in the next financial year. The
Commission has submitted an application to the Government
to retain and deploy the surplus in excess of the reserve ceiling
for meeting the committed and planned expenditures of the
Commission. As at the date of approval of these financial statements,
the application is being considered by the Government.

13. Material related party transactions

The Commission entered into the following material related party

transactions during the year:

2016 2015
BT HKS BT HKS
FTEEEASRM
Key management compensation
e REMEF
Salaries and other benefits 14,667,347 10,161,369
BAE REREEFIMEATERETEIZ R
Pensions and contributions to mandatory provident fund scheme 39,058 196,209
14,706,405 10,357,578
REEEZEME
Honorarium to Commission members 3,840,000 3,786,667
R EEFZEHERZH
Staff benefit expenses and premises expenses
HMEUFEBFT B ()
Other Government departments (note (a)) 39,174 1,471,151

BT -
(a)

(b)

BRBERI R AR EMtPFAZERZHA
HAEIATERFI LB R E SR A2 UUREN -

AREFEEERRRBMERS (EF
BRBEENEERTIREEASAIRE
FAERNKE) EEREEBBRES
BREBETNMBREERERRERER
T o

Notes:

Costs of other seconded staff and office expenses are charged by
other departments of the Government on a reimbursement basis.

All transactions related to the procurement of goods and services
involving organisations in which a member of the Commission and
key management personnel may have an interest are conducted in the
normal course of business and in accordance with the Commission’s
financial obligations and normal procurement procedures.
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14. KiE
(a) BEXRZERIE

FIBEYE « R R B 2MAARHERETE
BRI AT -

14. Commitments

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period in respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

2016 2015
BT HKS BT HKS
EHASEY
Contracted for 178,800 862,918
ERERRETILER
Authorised but not contracted for - 2,089,820
178,800 2,952,738

(b) EEHERE

BESHEEEMHETHEHA-—ME  FHEH
BEI3 F o BEEEBEE - LEETEESR
MHe -

MRERIR  BRESUTIRH 2L ERE?
HEARR 2 B S AIERERAOT -

(b) Commitments under operating lease

The Commission leases a property under operating lease, which runs for an
initial period of 3 years, with an option to renew the lease. The lease does
not include contingent rentals.

At the end of the reporting period, the Commission had future aggregate
minimum lease payments under a non-cancellable operating lease, which is
payable as follows:

2016 2015
/BT HKS BT HKS
—FRN
Within 1 year 1,876,080 5,628,237
—FREAFA
After 1 year but within 5 years - 1,876,080
1,876,080 7,504,317
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15. EEMEENEMIANS
b g =

BREECTEMB T AGERITAET ET’Eﬁﬁ
BIERHEECEE - BHEETHHMEE

EEMNEMIE  SFHMEBKN  &kE - ﬁ
b AR FERT B R ~ FRULIEUAT #H B LU R ¥ BN

BEf - EEREAEEFMAZEERMLU
RrBETER - BREE—MOGARTERBELL

R EEY 2 AREERE -

(a) {EERE

EERBEZZHFRERTHESEMRE
BERRZETMENRZTEEZRIALZER

BREGEHNESRREREKBRITHEST
HERFHEFHRNEETRRIFNEES /MM
B BEERMBEEEREERE -

MRERPR > REEMHEMEEMAZNE
BEBAIAZFEMEENIREE -HEEL

Bt FEMEERFR TR -

(b) iRENE RS

BEENHRATHETHRE RRHREE
EFK L:LEE@,H.%’E}#E5’%&%%&1}"&5%{%&%
RERBZRBHESE
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15. Financial risk management and fair value of
financial instruments

The Commission’s principal financial instrument comprises bank balances,
of which the purpose is to maintain the Commission’s operations. The
Commission has other financial instruments, such as other receivables,
deposits, other payables, accruals, Government subventions received in
advance and surplus subventions, which arise directly from its operations.
The Commission is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk which arise
directly from its activities. The Commission generally adopts conservative
strategies on the Commission’s risk management and limits the
Commission’s exposure to these risks to a minimum.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its obligations
to repay the amounts due to the Commission resulting in a loss to the
Commission. The Commission’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, which are deposited with financial institutions in Hong Kong with
sound credit ratings and minimal credit exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Commission’s financial assets
represents their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. The
Commission does not hold any collateral over these assets.

(b) Liquidity risk

The Commission’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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15. HFEABEEMEMIBAMA  15. Financial risk management and fair value of
’RE () financial instruments (continued)

(b) REBNE=EE (#8) (b) Liquidity risk (continued)

MESMEIEK  SBXeKiEHIRBNEFBAE2  The remaining undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the
RS HEETE B2 FREEIEZESHEIEEH Commission’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based
AT - on the earliest date on which the Commission is required to settle is

summarised below:

2016
AUREHRET
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FE
—fFUF EBRFELTF
=X ENEFRIHER More than EESEE
Within 1 yearor 1 year but less 8t Carrying
on demand than 5 years Total amount
/BT HK$ BT HKS BT HK$ BT HKS
HMEZHEE R
Provision for staff entitlements 3,564,264 1,642,479 5,206,743 5,206,743
Hitt e =R Bt &R
Other payables and accruals 4,578,803 - 4,578,803 4,578,803
FRUNEREE
Application fee received in advance 178,183 - 178,183 178,183
FEUR B AT HEEN
Government subventions received in advance 6,018,552 15,000,000 21,018,552 21,018,552
BN R ER
Surplus subventions 20,910,586 - 20,910,586 20,910,586

35,250,388 16,642,479 51,892,867 51,892,867
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15. BERAMESEMEMTEMA  15. Financial risk management and fair value of
7E () financial instruments (continued)
(b) RBE=EME (#) (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
2015
KRS RER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FE
—FLF BRFUTF
X ENEFEIEA More than IRE=EA
Within 1 year or 1 year but less Carrying
on demand than 5 years amount
/BT HKS /BJT HKS BT HKS
HEZHHEER
Provision for staff entitlements 2,157,267 2,696,555 4,853,822 4,853,822
HithrE R FEET B H
Other payables and accruals 4,147,942 - 4,147,942 4,147,942
FRUELAT 1B
Government subventions received in advance 13,364,065 15,000,000 28,364,065 28,364,065
WEhRER
Surplus subventions 16,137,374 - 16,137,374 16,137,374
35,806,648 17,696,555 53,503,203 53,503,203

(c) BRI

BEEMAEMNRZSIHLETEHE - SEERM
RAEAREBER -

(d) EFXEMER

BEERERESN  EAENERARZS
R EEIFRED - EEMERRIKELET
FEMSTTE -

(e) DAR{EEIE

B E Rl T B %k A Bl 8 65 Al A JI R AY
R E BB E AL 2016 £ & 2015 F 3 A 31 HEY
ARBELBEAER o

(c) Currency risk

The Commission has no exposure to currency risk as all of the Commission’s
transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(d) Capital risk management

The Commission’s primary objectives when managing its funds are to
safeguard the Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Commission’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

Fair value measurement

(e)

The carrying amounts of the Commission’s financial instruments carried at
cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values as at
31 March 2016 and 2015.

COMPETITION COMMISSION 83 ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016



CrE LS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAF5ER R b 5E

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. 8 F 2016 £ 3 H 31 HILHFE
EHIREE E B E R £ MY
{E8T » FERRRRETRERF K
MEE

BEAMBREAGAYLE  SHEHMAY

BB BIEIE ST R £ HREE 2016 4

3 B 31 HIEFEMFER  ARBRRLRE

AN S PR o S LB L4 T IR AL

Bigs RS HRIIEE -

16. Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2016

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued
a few amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 March 2016 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These include the following which may be relevant to
the Commission.

EUTHESZ &
AR B R EIR £

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

(BAERFHHREER) B9FZLE (2012-2014FZ IR )
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

(EBGEHER) BR8] "HEEZ

Amendments to HKAS 1, Disclosure initiative

2016F181H
1 January 2016

201651 H1H
1 January 2016

(EAEER) F163E Rk (EHEGFTLER) $385RE5T

" R IR AT E R R 75,509 /808

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38, Clarification of acceptable methods of

depreciation and amortisation

(EEMBMEER) £k "2/ TH,

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

(EBUBHMEHER) F1558 "KEZFSHIHBIMA

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

(EEIBHRESER) Fiesk THE
HKFRS 16, Leases

PR ERETERRFIERT R ERIH & XER
HIMAMERMR E - E8AT AL - HEEI R
BT TiE SN - BRANFZIERT R A BT A RIBE
HRZENUBRREBREARE

2016F1H1H
1 January 2016

2018F1H1H
1 January 2018

2018F1H1H
1 January 2018

2019%F181H
1 January 2019

The Commission is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments and new standards is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Commission’s financial
statements, except for the following:
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16. Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2016 (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 provides comprehensive guidance for the identification of lease
arrangements and their treatment by lessees and lessors. In particular,
HKFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model, whereby assets
and liabilities are recognised for all leases, subject to limited exceptions.
It replaces HKAS 17, Leases and the related interpretations including
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4, Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease.

With respect to HKFRS 16, given that the Commission has not completed its
assessment of its full impact on the Commission, its possible impact on the
Commission’s financial statements has not been quantified.
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